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     Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of
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     If the only securities being registered on this form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment
plans, please check the following box. o
     If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest
reinvestment plans, check the following box. þ
     If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities
Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective
registration statement for the same offering. o
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     If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. o
     If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto
that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check
the following box. o
     If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D.
filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities
Act, check the following box. o

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class
Proposed
Maximum

Proposed
Maximum

of Securities to be Amount to be
Offering Price

per
Aggregate
Offering Amount of

Registered Registered (1) Unit (2) Price
Registration

Fee
Common Stock 2,204,148 shares $ 31.515 $ 69,463,724 $ 7,433

(1) Includes up to
2,204,148
shares of the
registrant�s
common stock
issuable upon
conversion of
2,204,148 units
of limited
partnership
interest in
American
Campus
Communities
Operating
Partnership LP.
Pursuant to Rule
416(a) of the
Securities Act
of 1933, as
amended, this
registration
statement also
registers such
additional
shares of
common stock
as may become
issuable to
prevent dilution
as a result of
stock splits,
stock dividends
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or similar
transactions.

(2) Estimated solely
for the purposes
of calculating
the registration
for pursuant to
Rule 457(c)
based on the
high and low
sales prices of
the common
stock on the
New York
Stock Exchange
on January 31,
2007.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to
delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this
Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of
1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting
pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETE AND MAY BE CHANGED. WE MAY NOT
SELL THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL THESE
SECURITIES AND IT IS NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TO BUY THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE
WHERE THE OFFER OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.

Subject to completion, dated February 2, 2007
PROSPECTUS

AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES, INC.
2,204,148 Shares of Common Stock

          The selling stockholders listed on page 33 may offer and resell up to 2,204,148 shares of common stock under
this prospectus for each of their own accounts. These shares may be obtained by the selling stockholders upon an
exchange of units of limited partnership interest in American Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP, or the
Operating Partnership. Each unit is exchangeable for one share of common stock. Instead of issuing common stock
upon a tender of units for exchange, we may deliver cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of the equivalent
number of shares of common stock.
          This prospectus relates to (1) our possible issuance of shares of common stock if, and to the extent that, the
selling stockholders tender units for exchange and (2) the offer and sale of these shares by the selling stockholders.
We will not receive any proceeds from the issuance of common stock to the selling stockholders or from the sales of
common stock by the selling stockholders.
          The selling stockholders may sell the shares from time to time on the New York Stock Exchange or otherwise.
They may sell the shares at prevailing market prices or at prices negotiated with buyers. The selling stockholders will
be responsible for any commissions or discounts due to brokers and dealers. The amount of those commissions or
discounts will be negotiated before the sales. We will pay all other offering expenses.
          Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �ACC.� On January 31, 2007, the
closing sale price of a share of common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $31.87.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES OR PASSED UPON THE
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY
IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

The date of this prospectus is ____________, 2007.
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SUMMARY
The following information highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. It is not

complete and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You should read the entire prospectus
carefully, including the risk factors.
Our Company
     We are one of the largest owners, managers and developers of high quality student housing properties in the United
States in terms of beds owned and under management. We are a fully-integrated, self-managed and self-administered
real estate investment trust, or REIT, with expertise in the acquisition, design, financing, development, construction
management, leasing and management of student housing properties. As of September 30, 2006, our property
portfolio contained 38 student housing properties with approximately 22,700 beds and approximately 7,400 apartment
units, consisting of 34 owned off-campus properties that are in close proximity to colleges and universities and four
on-campus participating properties operated under ground/facility leases with the related university systems. These
communities contain modern housing units, offer resort-style amenities and are supported by a resident assistant
system and other student-oriented programming.
     Through American Campus Communities Services, Inc., our taxable REIT subsidiary, or our TRS, we also provide
construction management and development services for student housing properties owned by colleges and
universities, charitable foundations, and others. As of September 30, 2006, we provided third party management and
leasing services for 15 student housing properties (9 of which we served as the third party developer and construction
manager) that represented approximately 9,300 beds in approximately 3,200 units. Third party management and
leasing services are typically provided pursuant to multi-year management contracts that have initial terms that range
from one to five years. As of September 30, 2006, our total owned and managed portfolio included 53 properties with
approximately 32,000 beds in approximately 10,600 units.
     Our executive offices are located at 805 Las Cimas Parkway, Suite 400, Austin, Texas 78746, and our telephone
number is (512) 732-1000.
The Offering
     This prospectus relates to (1) our possible issuance of shares of common stock if, and to the extent that, the selling
stockholders tender units for exchange and (2) the offer and sale of these shares by the selling stockholders. We will
not receive any proceeds from the issuance of common stock to the selling stockholders or from the sales of common
stock by the selling stockholders.
     On March 1, 2006, we completed the acquisition of a portfolio of 13 student housing properties pursuant to a
contribution and sale agreement with contributors affiliated with Royal Properties for a contribution value of
$244.3 million, which was paid as follows: (i) the issuance to the selling stockholders of 2,089,185 common units of
limited partnership interest in American Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP, or the Operating
Partnership, valued at $23.50 per unit and 114,963 Series A preferred units of limited partnership interest in the
Operating Partnership valued at $26.75 per unit; (ii) the assumption of $123.6 million of fixed-rate mortgage debt; and
(iii) the remainder in cash and promissory notes. In connection with the issuance of the units, we granted customary
registration rights, including demand and piggyback registration rights, with respect to the shares of our common
stock that may be received by the selling stockholders upon an exchange of the units in accordance with the terms of
the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership. We will bear all fees, costs and expenses of such registrations,
other than underwriting discounts and commissions. We are registering the common stock covered by this prospectus
in order to fulfill these contractual obligations. Registration of this common stock does not necessarily mean that all or
any portion of such common stock will be offered for sale by the selling stockholders.

1
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Exchange of Units
     Each common and Series A preferred unit is exchangeable for one share of common stock, as adjusted for stock
splits, stock dividends, issuance of stock rights, specified extraordinary distributions and similar events. Instead of
issuing common stock upon a tender of shares for exchange, we may deliver cash in an amount equal to the then fair
market value of the common stock. Upon an exchange of units for shares, our ownership interest in the Operating
Partnership will increase.
Restrictions on Ownership of Capital Stock
     To ensure that we qualify as a REIT, our charter generally prohibits any person or entity from actually or
constructively owning more than 9.8% of the outstanding shares of our stock. Our charter, however, requires
exceptions to be made to this limitation if our board of directors determines that such exceptions will not jeopardize
our tax status as a REIT. These limitations are described in more detail on page 5 under the heading �Description of
Capital Stock�Restrictions on Transfer.�
Our Tax Status
     We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code commencing
with our taxable year ended December 31, 2004. We believe that our organization and method of operation enables us
to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. To maintain REIT
status, we must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that we
annually distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders. As a REIT, we generally are not
subject to federal income tax on REIT taxable income we currently distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify
as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates. Even if we qualify
for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to some federal, state and local taxes on our income or property and the
income of our TRS will be subject to taxation at normal corporate rates and state and local income tax where
applicable. Further, unlike dividends received from a corporation that is not a REIT, our distributions to individual
stockholders generally will not be eligible for the recent lower tax rate on dividends except in limited situations.

2
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
     We have made statements in this prospectus and any supplement that are �forward-looking� in that they do not
discuss historical fact, but instead note future expectations, projections, intentions or other items relating to the future.
These forward-looking statements include those made in the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus.
In particular, statements pertaining to our capital resources, portfolio performance and results of operations contain
forward-looking statements. Likewise, all of our statements regarding anticipated growth in our funds from operations
and anticipated market conditions, demographics and results of operations are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you should not rely on them as predictions
of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or methods that may be incorrect or
imprecise and we may not be able to realize them. We do not guarantee that the transactions and events described will
happen as described (or that they will happen at all). You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as �believes,� �expects,� �may,� �will,� �should,� �seeks,� �approximately,� �intends,� �plans,� �pro
forma,� �estimates� or �anticipates� or the negative of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases. You can also
identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions. The following factors, among
others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the
forward-looking statements:
� changing university admission and housing policies;

� adverse economic or real estate developments;

� general economic conditions;

� future terrorist attacks in the U.S. or hostilities involving the U.S.;

� defaults on or non-renewal of leases by student-tenants;

� increased interest rates and operating costs;

� debt levels and property encumbrances;

� our failure to obtain necessary third party financing;

� decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates resulting from competition or otherwise;

� difficulties in identifying properties to acquire and completing acquisitions;

� our failure to successfully operate acquired properties and operations;

� our failure to successfully develop properties in a timely manner;

� our failure to maintain our status as a REIT;

� environmental costs, uncertainties and risks, especially those related to natural disasters;

� financial market fluctuations;

� changes in real estate and zoning laws and increases in real property tax rates; and

� other risks detailed in our other SEC reports or filings
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     For a further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or transactions,
see the section above entitled �Risk Factors.� These forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions
only as of the date of this prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS
     We will not receive any proceeds from the issuance of common stock to the selling stockholders or from sales of
this stock by the selling stockholders.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
General

Authorized Shares. Our charter provides that we may issue up to 800,000,000 shares of our common stock, $0.01
par value per share, and 200,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share. As of the date of this
prospectus, 22,903,073 shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock are issued and outstanding.

Authority of Our Board of Directors Relating to Authorized Shares. Our charter authorizes our board of directors to
amend our charter to increase or decrease the total number of our authorized shares, or the number of shares of any
class or series of capital stock that we have authority to issue, without stockholder approval. Our board of directors
also has the authority, under our charter and without stockholder approval, to classify any unissued shares of common
or preferred stock into one or more classes or series of stock and to reclassify any previously classified but unissued
shares of any series of our common or preferred stock. If, however, there are any laws or stock exchange rules that
require us to obtain stockholder approval in order for us to take these actions, we will contact our stockholders to
solicit that approval.
     We believe that the power to issue additional shares of common stock or preferred stock and to classify or
reclassify unissued shares of common or preferred stock and then issue the classified or reclassified shares provides us
with increased flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions and in meeting other needs that
may arise in the future. These actions can be taken without stockholder approval, unless stockholder approval is
required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities
may be listed or traded. Although our board of directors has no present intention of doing so, we could issue a class or
series of stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control that would involve a premium
price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be favorable to them.

Terms and Conditions of Authorized Shares. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or series, our board of
directors is required by Maryland law and our charter to set, subject to the provisions of our charter regarding
restrictions on transfer of stock, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions,
limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of exchange for each class or
series. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of shares of common stock or preferred stock
with terms and conditions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change of
control that would involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be favorable to them.

Stockholder Liability. Applicable Maryland law provides that our stockholders will not be personally liable for our
acts and obligations and that our funds and property will be the only recourse for our acts and obligations.
Common Stock
     All shares of our common stock are duly authorized, fully paid and nonassessable. Subject to the preferential rights
of any other class or series of stock and to the provisions of the charter regarding restrictions on transfer of stock,
holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to receive distributions on such stock if, as and when authorized by
our board of directors out of assets legally available for the payment of distributions, and declared by us, and to share
ratably in our assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, after payment of or adequate provision for all of our known debts and liabilities.
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     Subject to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on transfer of stock, as described in more detail
below under �Restrictions on Transfer,� each outstanding share of our common stock entitles the holder to one vote on
all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors and, except as provided with respect
to any other class or series of stock, the holders of our common stock will possess the exclusive voting power. There
is no cumulative voting in the election of our directors. Under Maryland law, the holders of a plurality of the votes
cast at a meeting at which directors are to be elected is sufficient to elect a director unless a corporation�s charter or
bylaws provide otherwise. Our bylaws provide for such plurality voting in the election of directors.
     Holders of shares of our common stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund, redemption or
appraisal rights and have no preemptive or other rights to subscribe for any of our securities. Subject to the provisions
of our charter regarding the restrictions on transfer of stock, shares of our common stock will have equal dividend,
liquidation and other rights.
Preferred Stock
     Under our charter, our board of directors may from time to time establish and issue one or more series of preferred
stock without stockholder approval. Prior to issuance of shares of each series, our board of directors is required by
Maryland law and our charter to set, subject to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on transfer of stock,
the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other
distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each series. As of the date hereof, no shares of
preferred stock are outstanding and we have no present plans to issue any preferred stock.
Restrictions on Transfer
     In order for us to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, our stock must be beneficially owned by 100
or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months (other than the first year for which an election
to be a REIT has been made) or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year. Also, not more than 50% of the
value of the outstanding shares of stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined
in the Internal Revenue Code to include certain entities such as qualified pension plans) during the last half of a
taxable year (other than the first year for which an election to be a REIT has been made).
     Our charter contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our stock that are intended to assist us in
complying with these requirements and continuing to qualify as a REIT. The relevant sections of our charter provide
that, subject to the exceptions described below, no person or entity may beneficially own, or be deemed to own by
virtue of the applicable constructive ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, more than 9.8% (by value or
by number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding shares of our common stock or more than 9.8%
by value of all of our outstanding shares, including both common and preferred stock. We refer to this restriction as
the �ownership limit.� A person or entity that becomes subject to the ownership limit by virtue of a violative transfer
that results in a transfer to a trust, as set forth below, is referred to as a �purported beneficial transferee� if, had the
violative transfer been effective, the person or entity would have been a record owner and beneficial owner or solely a
beneficial owner of our stock, or is referred to as a �purported record transferee� if, had the violative transfer been
effective, the person or entity would have been solely a record owner of our stock.
     The constructive ownership rules under the Internal Revenue Code are complex and may cause stock owned
actually or constructively by a group of related individuals and/or entities to be owned constructively by one
individual or entity. As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% of our stock (or the acquisition of an interest in an
entity that owns, actually or constructively, our stock) by an individual or entity, could, nevertheless cause that
individual or entity, or another individual or entity, to own constructively in excess of 9.8% of our outstanding stock
and thereby subject the stock to the applicable ownership limit.
     Our board of directors must waive the ownership limit with respect to a particular person if it:
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� determines that such ownership will not cause any individual�s beneficial ownership of shares of our stock to
violate the ownership limit and that any exemption from the ownership limit will not jeopardize our status as a
REIT; and

� determines that such stockholder does not and will not own, actually or constructively, an interest in a tenant of
ours (or a tenant of any entity whose operations are attributed in whole or in part to us) that would cause us to
own, actually or constructively, more than a 9.8% interest (as set forth in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Internal
Revenue Code) in such tenant or that any such ownership would not cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT under
the Internal Revenue Code.

     As a condition of our waiver, our board of directors may require the applicant to submit such information as the
board of directors may reasonably need to make the determinations regarding our REIT status and additionally may
require an opinion of counsel or IRS ruling satisfactory to our board of directors, and/or representations or
undertakings from the applicant with respect to preserving our REIT status.
     In connection with the waiver of the ownership limit or at any other time, our board of directors may increase the
ownership limitation for some persons and decrease the ownership limit for all other persons and entities; provided,
however, that the decreased ownership limit will not be effective for any person or entity whose percentage ownership
in our stock is in excess of such decreased ownership limit until such time as such person or entity�s percentage of our
stock equals or falls below the decreased ownership limit, but any further acquisition of our stock in excess of such
percentage ownership of our common stock will be in violation of the ownership limit. Additionally, the new
ownership limit may not allow five or fewer stockholders to beneficially own more than 50% in value of our
outstanding stock.
     Our charter provisions further prohibit:
� any person from beneficially or constructively owning shares of our stock that would result in our being �closely

held� under Section 856(h) of the Internal Revenue Code or otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT; and

� any person from transferring shares of our stock if such transfer would result in shares of our stock being
beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons (determined without reference to any rules of attribution).

     Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of shares of our
stock that will or may violate any of the foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership will be required to
give notice immediately to us and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the
effect of such transfer on our status as a REIT. The foregoing provisions on transferability and ownership will not
apply if our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify, or to continue
to qualify, as a REIT.
     Pursuant to our charter, if any purported transfer of our stock or any other event would otherwise result in any
person violating the ownership limits or such other limit as permitted by our board of directors, then any such
purported transfer will be void and of no force or effect as to that number of shares in excess of the ownership limit
(rounded up to the nearest whole share). That number of shares in excess of the ownership limit will be automatically
transferred to, and held by, a trust for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable organizations selected by us. The
automatic transfer will be effective as of the close of business on the business day prior to the date of the violative
transfer or other event that results in a transfer to the trust. Any dividend or other distribution paid to the purported
record transferee, prior to our discovery that the shares had been automatically transferred to a trust as described
above, must be repaid to the trustee upon demand for distribution to the beneficiary of the trust. If the transfer to the
trust as described above is not automatically effective, for any reason, to prevent violation of the applicable ownership
limit or as otherwise permitted by our board of directors, then our charter provides that the transfer of the excess
shares will be void.
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     Shares of our stock transferred to the trustee are deemed offered for sale to us, or our designee, at a price per share
equal to the lesser of (i) the price paid by the purported record transferee for the shares (or, if the event which resulted
in the transfer to the trust did not involve a purchase of such shares of our stock at market price, the last reported sales
price reported on the NYSE on the trading day immediately preceding the day of the event which resulted in the
transfer of such shares of our stock to the trust); and (ii) the market price on the date we, or our designee, accepts such
offer. We have the right to accept such offer until the trustee has sold the shares of our stock held in the trust pursuant
to the clauses discussed below. Upon a sale to us, the interest of the charitable beneficiary in the shares sold
terminates and the trustee must distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the purported record transferee and any
dividends or other distributions held by the trustee with respect to such stock will be paid to the charitable beneficiary.
     If we do not buy the shares, the trustee must, within 20 days of receiving notice from us of the transfer of shares to
the trust, sell the shares to a person or entity designated by the trustee who could own the shares without violating the
ownership limits or as otherwise permitted by our board of directors. After that, the trustee must distribute to the
purported record transferee an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the price paid by the purported record transferee or
owner for the shares (or, if the event which resulted in the transfer to the trust did not involve a purchase of such
shares at market price, the last reported sales price reported on the NYSE on the trading day immediately preceding
the relevant date); and (ii) the sales proceeds (net of commissions and other expenses of sale) received by the trust for
the shares. The purported beneficial transferee or purported record transferee has no rights in the shares held by the
trustee.
     The trustee will be designated by us and will be unaffiliated with us and with any purported record transferee or
purported beneficial transferee. Prior to the sale of any excess shares by the trust, the trustee will receive, in trust for
the beneficiary, all dividends and other distributions paid by us with respect to the excess shares, and may also
exercise all voting rights with respect to the excess shares.
     Subject to Maryland law, effective as of the date that the shares have been transferred to the trust, the trustee shall
have the authority, at the trustee�s sole discretion:
� to rescind as void any vote cast by a purported record transferee prior to our discovery that the shares have

been transferred to the trust; and

� to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the trustee acting for the benefit of the beneficiary of the
trust.

     However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the trustee may not rescind and recast the
vote.
     Any beneficial owner or constructive owner of shares of our stock and any person or entity (including the
stockholder of record) who is holding shares of our stock for a beneficial owner must, on request, provide us with a
completed questionnaire containing the information regarding their ownership of such shares, as set forth in the
applicable Treasury Regulations. In addition, any person or entity that is a beneficial owner or constructive owner of
shares of our stock and any person or entity (including the stockholder of record) who is holding shares of our stock
for a beneficial owner or constructive owner shall, on request, be required to disclose to us in writing such information
as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such stockholder�s actual and constructive ownership of
shares of our stock on our status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the ownership limit, or as otherwise
permitted by our board of directors.
     All certificates representing shares of our stock bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.
     This ownership limit could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control of us that might involve a
premium price for our stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.
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Transfer Agent and Registrar
     The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is The Bank of New York.

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS
     The following description summarizes the material terms of certain provisions of Maryland law, including the
Maryland General Corporation Law, and our charter and bylaws. You should review the Maryland General
Corporation Law, our charter and our bylaws for complete information. We have incorporated by reference our charter
and bylaws as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See �Where You Can Find More
Information.�
Our Board of Directors, Vacancies on Our Board of Directors and Removal of Directors

Number and Election of Directors. Our bylaws provide that, except for any directors elected by holders of a class
or series of shares other than common stock, the number of our directors will be fixed by a majority of our entire
board of directors, but may not be fewer than the minimum number permitted under Maryland law or more than
fifteen. In establishing the number of directors, the board of directors may not alter the term of office of any director
in office at that time.
     Pursuant to our charter, each of our directors is elected by our stockholders to serve until their successors are duly
elected and qualify. Holders of shares of our common stock will have no right to cumulative voting in the election of
directors. Our bylaws provide that at each annual meeting of stockholders, a plurality of votes cast will be able to elect
our directors.

Vacancies on Our Board of Directors. Any vacancy may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors even if
the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, except (i) if the vacancy results from an increase in the number of
directors constituting the board, in which case the vacancy shall be filled by a majority of the entire board, (ii) if the
vacancy results from a removal of a director, in which case the vacancy may also be filled by our stockholders and
(iii) as may be otherwise provided for in the terms of any class or series of preferred stock.

Removal of Directors. Our charter provides that, except for any directors elected by holders of a class or series of
shares other than common stock, a director may be removed by the stockholders only with the affirmative vote of at
least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors and only for �cause.� In our charter,
�cause� means, with respect to any particular director, conviction of a felony or a final judgment of a court of competent
jurisdiction holding that such director caused demonstrable, material harm to us through bad faith or active and
deliberate dishonesty.
Amendment of Our Charter and Bylaws
     Our charter, including its provisions on removal of directors, may be amended by the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our bylaws may be amended only by
a majority of our directors. The stockholders have no right to amend or propose an amendment to our bylaws.
Transactions Outside the Ordinary Course of Business
     Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not merge with or into another entity, sell all or substantially all
of our assets, engage in a share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of our business
unless the transaction or transactions are approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of
all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for
approval of these matters by a lesser percentage of the shares entitled to vote on the matter, but not less than a
majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter provides for approval of these matters by at
least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast except if:
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� the merger will merge one of our 90% or more owned subsidiaries into us without amending our charter other
than in limited respects and without altering the contract rights of the stock of the subsidiary (in which case
only the approval of our board of directors and the board of directors of the subsidiary is necessary);

� we are the successor corporation in a share exchange (in which case only the approval of our board of directors
is necessary); or

� we are the survivor in the merger and the merger does not change the terms of any class or series of our
outstanding stock, or otherwise amend our charter, and the number of shares of stock of each class or series
outstanding immediately before the merger does not increase by more than 20% of the number of shares of
each such class or series of stock that was outstanding immediately prior to effectiveness of the merger (in
which case only the approval of our board of directors is necessary).

Dissolution
     A proposal that we dissolve must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of all of
the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.
Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business
     Our bylaws provide for advance notice by a stockholder or stockholders wishing to have certain matters considered
and voted upon at a meeting of stockholders.
     With respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of persons for election to our board of directors
and the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders may be made only:
� pursuant to our notice of the meeting;

� by or at the direction of our board of directors; or

� by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice procedures set
forth in our bylaws.

     These procedures generally require the stockholder to deliver notice to our Secretary not less than 90 days or later
than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of mailing of the notice for the
preceding year�s annual meeting. If the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days from the date of
the preceding year�s meeting or if we did not hold an annual meeting the preceding year, notice must delivered not
earlier than the 120th day prior to the date of mailing of the notice for that annual meeting and not later than the close
of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of mailing of the notice for the annual meeting or the 10th day
following the day on which disclosure of the date of mailing for the meeting is made.
     With respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the business specified in our notice of meeting may be
brought before the meeting of stockholders. Nominations of persons for election to our board of directors may be
made only:
� pursuant to our notice of the meeting;

� by or at the direction of our board of directors; or

� provided that our board of directors has determined that directors will be elected at such meeting, by a
stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice provisions set forth
in our bylaws.
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     Notice must be delivered not earlier than the 120th day prior to the date of the special meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of the special meeting or the 10th day following the day
on which disclosure of the date of the special meeting is made.
     The postponement or adjournment of an annual or special meeting to a later date or time will not commence any
new time periods for the giving of the notice described above. Our bylaws contain detailed requirements for the
contents of stockholder notices of director nominations and new business proposals.
Ownership Limit
     Our charter provides that no person or entity may beneficially own, or be deemed to own by virtue of the
applicable constructive ownership provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, more than 9.8% (by value or by number
of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding shares of our stock. We refer to this restriction as the
�ownership limit.� Our charter, however, requires exceptions to be made to this limitation if our board of directors
determines that such exceptions will not jeopardize our tax status as a REIT. See �Description of Capital
Stock�Restrictions on Transfer.�
Business Combinations
     Maryland law establishes special requirements for �business combinations� (including a merger, consolidation, share
exchange or, in certain circumstances, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities) between a
Maryland corporation and any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation�s
shares or an affiliate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was
the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation, an
interested stockholder, or an affiliate of such an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most
recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Thereafter, any such business
combination must be recommended by the board of directors of such corporation and approved by the affirmative vote
of at least (a) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation
and (b) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held
by the interested stockholder with whom (or with whose affiliate) the business combination is to be effected, unless,
among other conditions, the corporation�s common stockholders receive a minimum price (as defined in Maryland
law) for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the interested
stockholder for its shares. These provisions of Maryland law do not apply, however, to business combinations that are
approved or exempted by our board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. In addition, a person is not considered an interested stockholder under the statute if our board of directors
approved in advance the transaction by which the person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder.
     Unless otherwise determined by our board of directors, pursuant to our charter, we have opted out of these
provisions of Maryland law. Our charter, however, provides that any business combinations must be approved by the
affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our voting stock.
Control Share Acquisitions
     Maryland law provides that �control shares� of a Maryland corporation acquired in a �control share acquisition� have
no voting rights except to the extent approved at a special meeting by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes
entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares of stock in a corporation in respect of which any of the following
persons is entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting power of shares of stock of the corporation in the
election of directors: (i) a person who makes or proposes to make a control share acquisition; (ii) an officer of the
corporation; or (iii) an employee of the corporation who is also a director of the corporation. �Control shares� are voting
shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other such shares of stock previously acquired by the acquirer or in
respect of which the acquirer is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a
revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following
ranges of voting power: (i) one-tenth or more but less than one-third; (ii) one-third or more but less than a majority; or
(iii) a majority or more of all voting power. Control shares do not include
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shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A
�control share acquisition� means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions.
     A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition, upon satisfaction of certain conditions
(including an undertaking to pay expenses), may compel our board of directors to call a special meeting of
stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. If no request for a
meeting is made, the corporation may itself present the question at any stockholders� meeting.
     If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person
statement as required by the statute, then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, the corporation may redeem
any or all of the control shares (except those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value
determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share
acquisition by the acquirer or of any meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of such shares are considered
and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders� meeting and the acquirer becomes
entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair
value of the shares as determined for purposes of such appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share
paid by the acquirer in the control share acquisition.
     The control share acquisition statute does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share
exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or
bylaws of the corporation.
     Our bylaws contain a provision exempting us from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by
any person of our common stock. There can be no assurance that our board of directors will not amend or eliminate
this provision of our bylaws in the future.
Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws
     The provisions of our charter on removal of directors and the advance notice provisions of the bylaws could delay,
defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control of us that might involve a premium price for holders of our
common stock or otherwise be in their best interest. Likewise, if our board of directors were to opt in to the business
combination provisions of Maryland law or if the provision in the bylaws opting out of the control share acquisition
provisions of Maryland law were rescinded, these provisions of Maryland law could have similar anti-takeover
effects.
Board Consideration of Relevant Factors and Constituencies
     Our charter provides that our board of directors may, in connection with a �business combination,� �change in control�
or other potential acquisition of our control, consider the effect of the potential acquisition on our control, consider the
effect of the potential acquisition on our stockholders, employees, suppliers, customers and creditors and on
communities in which our offices or other establishments are located. As a result of this provision, our board of
directors may consider subjective factors that affect or may affect the potential acquisition and may oppose the
proposal on that basis.
Duties of Our Directors
     Under Maryland law, there is a presumption that the act of a director satisfies the required standard of care under
Maryland law. An act of a director relating to or affecting an acquisition or a potential acquisition of control is not
subject under Maryland law to a higher duty or to greater scrutiny than those applied to any other act of a director.
This provision does not impose an enhanced level of scrutiny when our board of directors implements anti-takeover
measures in a change-of-control context, and also shifts the burden of proof for demonstrating that any defensive
mechanism adopted by our board is unreasonable.
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Indemnification and Limitation of Directors� and Officers� Liability
     Our charter and the partnership agreement provide for indemnification of our officers and directors against
liabilities to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland law.
     Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its
directors and officers to the corporation and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from
actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or active and deliberate dishonesty
established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action. Our charter contains such a provision, which
eliminates such liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
     Our charter also provides that, to the maximum extent that Maryland Law in effect from time to time permits
limitation of the liability of directors and officers of a corporation, no director or officer shall be liable to us or our
stockholders for money damages. Our bylaws obligate us, to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland law in effect
from time to time, to indemnify and, without requiring a preliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement to
indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding to:
� any present or former director or officer who is made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service

in that capacity; or

� any individual who, while a member of our board and at our request, serves or has served another corporation,
real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as a
director, officer, partner or trustee of such corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture,
trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or
her service in that capacity.

     Our charter and bylaws also permit us to indemnify and advance expenses to any person who served a predecessor
of ours in any of the capacities described above and to any of our employees, agents or predecessors.
     Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to
indemnify a director or officer who has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding
to which he or she is made a party by reason of his or her service in that capacity. Maryland law permits a corporation
to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines,
settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may
be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that:
� the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and:

� was committed in bad faith; or

� was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty;
� the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or

� in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or
omission was unlawful.

     However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or
in the right of the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received,
unless in either case a court orders indemnification and then only for expenses. In addition, Maryland law permits a
corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer only upon the corporation�s receipt of:
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� a written affirmation by the director or officer of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct
necessary for indemnification by the corporation; and

� a written undertaking by the director or by another on the director�s behalf to repay the amount paid or
reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the director did not meet the standard of
conduct.

     Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, officers or persons controlling us for
liability arising under the Securities Act, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, this indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.
Indemnification Agreements
     We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors whereby we
indemnify such executive officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland Law against all expenses
and liabilities, subject to limited exceptions. These indemnification agreements also provide that upon an application
for indemnity by an executive officer or director to a court of appropriate jurisdiction, such court may order us to
indemnify such executive officer or director.

EXCHANGE OF UNITS
     The rights of unitholders to exchange their units for common stock were granted in the Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of American Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP, dated as of
August 17, 2004, as amended. The following summary of the exchange rights of holders units is not complete. You
should look at the partnership agreement and the amendments that are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of
which this prospectus is a part. To obtain a copy of these documents, see �Where You Can Find More Information� on
page 35.
     Holders of units have the right to require us to acquire all or a portion of their units in exchange for, at our election,
cash or our common stock by delivering a notice of exchange substantially in the form of Exhibit B to the partnership
agreement. The general partner will promptly give the tendering holder written notice of its election, and the tendering
holder may elect to withdraw its exchange request at any time prior to the acceptance of the cash or shares by such
tendering holder. Without the consent of the general partner, no unitholder effecting an exchange of all or a portion of
its units is entitled to tender less than 1,000 units for exchange at any one time, unless such lesser amount is all of the
units then owned by the exchanging holder. The consent of the general partner is also required to effect an exchange
during the period after a record date with respect to a distribution to unitholders and before the record date for a
distribution to stockholders.
     Upon exchange, the exchanging holder will receive either an equal number of shares of common stock or, at our
election, an amount of cash equal to the fair market value of such number of shares. The number of shares will be
adjusted:
� if we, under certain circumstances, acquire material assets, other than on behalf of the Operating Partnership;

or

� for stock dividends, stock splits and subdivisions, reverse stock splits and combinations, distributions of rights,
warrants or options, and distributions of evidences of indebtedness or assets relating to assets we do not receive
pursuant to a pro rata distribution by the Operating Partnership.

     If we elect to deliver cash in lieu of all or any portion of the shares, the exchanging holder will receive shares
valued at the average of the daily closing prices for the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date
of receipt of a notice of exchange.
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     On the tenth day after our receipt of the notice of exchange, we will deliver to the exchanging holder the number of
shares of common stock to be exchanged or, at our election, cash, each in an amount determined as described above.
The common stock to be delivered will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and, if
applicable, free of any pledge, lien, encumbrance or restriction, other than those provided in our charter, bylaws, the
Securities Act of 1933, relevant state securities or blue sky laws and any applicable registration rights agreement with
respect to such shares entered into by the exchanging holder. Notwithstanding any delay in such delivery, except as
described in the next paragraph, the exchanging holder will be deemed the owner of such shares for all purposes,
including rights to vote or consent, and receive dividends, as of the date of the notice of exchange.
     Notwithstanding any other provision of the partnership agreement, a unitholder will not be entitled to effect an
exchange for cash or an exchange for common stock to the extent the ownership or right to acquire common stock
pursuant to such exchange by such holder on the date of the notice of could cause such holder or any other person to
violate the restrictions on ownership and transfer of our common stock set forth in our charter and will have no rights
under the partnership agreement to acquire common stock that would otherwise be prohibited under our charter. To
the extent any attempted exchange or exchange would be in violation of the provisions described in this paragraph, it
will be null and void and such holder will not acquire any rights or economic interest in the cash otherwise payable
upon such redemption or the common stock otherwise issuable upon such exchange.
     Each unitholder will continue to own all units subject to redemption or exchange, and be treated as a limited
partner with respect to such units for all purposes of the partnership agreement, until such units are transferred and
paid for or exchanged. Until so exchanged, the exchanging holder will have no rights as a stockholder with respect to
such holder�s units.
     In the partnership agreement, each unitholder agreed with us that all tendered units will be delivered to us free and
clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and should any such lien, claim and/or encumbrance exist or arise with
respect to such tendered units, we will be under no obligation to acquire the same. Each unitholder also agreed that, in
the event any state or local property transfer tax is payable as a result of the transfer of its tendered units, such holder
will assume and pay such transfer tax.
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FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES
     The following discussion summarizes our taxation and the material Federal income tax consequences associated
with an investment in our common stock. The tax treatment of stockholders will vary depending upon the holder�s
particular situation, and this discussion addresses only holders that hold common stock as a capital asset and does not
deal with all aspects of taxation that may be relevant to particular holders in light of their personal investment or tax
circumstances. This section also does not deal with all aspects of taxation that may be relevant to certain types of
holders to which special provisions of the Federal income tax laws apply, including:
� dealers in securities or currencies;

� traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;

� banks and other financial institutions;

� tax-exempt organizations (except to the limited extent discussed in ��Taxation of Tax-Exempt Holders�);

� certain insurance companies;

� persons liable for the alternative minimum tax;

� persons that hold securities as a hedge against interest rate or currency risks or as part of a straddle or
conversion transaction;

� non-U.S. individuals and foreign corporations (except to the limited extent discussed in ��Taxation of Non-U.S.
Holders�); and

� holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar.
     The statements in this section are based on the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code, its legislative history, current
and proposed regulations under the Code, published rulings and court decisions. This summary describes the
provisions of these sources of law only as they are currently in effect. All of these sources of law may change at any
time, and any change in the law may apply retroactively. We cannot assure you that new laws, interpretations of law
or court decisions, any of which may take effect retroactively, will not cause any statement in this section to be
inaccurate.

This section is not a substitute for careful tax planning. We urge you to consult your tax advisor regarding
the specific tax consequences to you of ownership of our securities and of our election to be taxed as a REIT.
Specifically, you should consult your tax advisor regarding the federal, state, local, foreign, and other tax
consequences to you regarding the purchase, ownership and sale of our securities. You should also consult with
your tax advisor regarding the impact of potential changes in the applicable tax laws.
Tax Consequences of an Exchange of Units
     The exchange of units for common shares or cash will be a fully taxable transaction to the unitholder. The
unitholder will generally recognize gain in an amount equal to the value of the common shares and the amount of cash
received, plus the amount of liabilities of the Operating Partnership allocable to the units being exchanged, less its tax
basis in the units. The gain may exceed the value of the common stock and the amount of cash received. However, if
we elect to pay cash for the units exchanged and we use cash received from the Operating Partnership for such
purpose, it is possible that such payment will be treated for federal income tax purposes as an exchange by the
Operating Partnership of the units exchanged. In this case, the unitholder would recognize gain to the extent that the
cash received, plus the amount of any of the Operating Partnership�s liabilities allocable to the units being exchanged,
exceeds the adjusted tax basis in all of the holder�s units prior to such payment.
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     The recognition of any loss resulting from an exchange of units is subject to a number of limitations set forth in the
Internal Revenue Code. The character of any gain or loss arising from an exchange as capital or ordinary will depend
on the character of the units in the hands of the unitholder as well as the nature of the assets of the Operating
Partnership at the time of the exchange.
Taxation of Our Company
     We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of Code, commencing with our taxable
year ended December 31, 2004.
     Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP has provided us an opinion that we have been organized and, for the taxable year ended
December 31, 2005, we have operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT
under the Code, and our current manner of organization and proposed method of operation will enable us to continue
to satisfy the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code in the future. You should be aware,
however, that opinions of counsel are not binding upon the Internal Revenue Service or any court. In providing its
opinion, Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP is relying, as to certain factual matters, upon the statements and representations
contained in certificates provided to Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP by us.
     Our qualification as a REIT will depend upon our continuing satisfaction of the requirements of the Code relating
to qualification for REIT status. Some of these requirements depend upon actual operating results, distribution levels,
diversity of stock ownership, asset composition, source of income and record keeping. Accordingly, while we intend
to continue to qualify to be taxed as a REIT, the actual results of our operations for any particular year might not
satisfy these requirements. Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP will not monitor our compliance with the requirements for
REIT qualification on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of our
operation for any particular taxable year will satisfy such requirements. For a discussion of the tax consequences of
our failure to qualify as a REIT. See ��Failure to Qualify as a REIT� below.
     The sections of the Code relating to qualification and operation as a REIT, and the federal income taxation of a
REIT and its stockholders, are highly technical and complex. The following discussion sets forth only the material
aspects of those sections. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the applicable Code provisions and the related
rules and regulations.
     As a REIT, we generally are not subject to federal income tax on the taxable income that we distribute to our
stockholders. The benefit of that tax treatment is that it avoids the �double taxation,� or taxation at both the corporate
and stockholder levels, that generally results from owning shares in a corporation. Our distributions, however, will
generally not be eligible for (i) the lower rate of tax applicable to dividends received by an individual from a �C
corporation� (as defined below) or (ii) the corporate dividends received deduction. Further, we will be subject to
federal tax in the following circumstances:
� First, we will have to pay tax at regular corporate rates on any undistributed real estate investment trust taxable

income, including undistributed net capital gains.

� Second, under certain circumstances, we may have to pay the alternative minimum tax on items of tax
preference.

� Third, if we have (a) net income from the sale or other disposition of �foreclosure property,� as defined in the
Code, which is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or (b) other
non-qualifying income from foreclosure property, we will have to pay tax at the highest corporate rate on that
income.

� Fourth, if we have net income from �prohibited transactions,� as defined in the Code, we will have to pay a 100%
tax on that income. Prohibited transactions are, in general, certain sales or other dispositions of property, other
than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We do not
intend to engage in prohibited transactions. We cannot assure you, however, that we will only make sales that
satisfy the requirements of the safe
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harbors or that the IRS will not successfully assert that one or more of such sales are prohibited transactions.
� Fifth, if we should fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below

under ��Requirements for Qualification,� but we have nonetheless maintained our qualification as a REIT because
we have satisfied other requirements necessary to maintain REIT qualification, we will have to pay a 100% tax
on an amount equal to (a) the gross income attributable to the greater of (i) 75% of our gross income over the
amount of gross income that is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% test, and (ii) 95% of our gross
income over the amount of gross income that is qualifying income for purposes of the 95% test, multiplied by
(b) a fraction intended to reflect our profitability.

� Sixth, beginning in the 2005 taxable year, if we fail, in more than a de minimis fashion, to satisfy one or more
of the asset tests under the REIT provisions of the Code for any quarter of a taxable year, but nonetheless
continue to qualify as a REIT because we qualify under certain relief provisions, we will likely be required to
pay a tax of the greater of $50,000 or a tax computed at the highest corporate rate on the amount of net income
generated by the assets causing the failure from the date of failure until the assets are disposed of or we
otherwise return to compliance with the asset test.

� Seventh, beginning in the 2005 taxable year, if we fail to satisfy one or more of the requirements for REIT
qualification under the REIT provisions of the Code (other than the income tests or the asset tests), we
nevertheless may avoid termination of our REIT election in such year if the failure is due to reasonable cause
and not due to willful neglect and we pay a penalty of $50,000 for each failure to satisfy the REIT qualification
requirements.

� Eighth, if we should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (1) 85% of our real estate
investment trust ordinary income for that year, (2) 95% of our real estate investment trust capital gain net
income for that year and (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would have to pay a 4%
excise tax on the excess of that required dividend over the amounts actually distributed.

� Ninth, if we acquire any appreciated asset from a C corporation in certain transactions in which we must adopt
the basis of the asset or any other property in the hands of the C corporation as our basis of the asset in our
hands, and we recognize gain on the disposition of that asset during the 10-year period beginning on the date
on which we acquired that asset, then we will have to pay tax on the built-in gain at the highest regular
corporate rate. In general, a �C corporation� means a corporation that has to pay full corporate-level tax.

� Tenth, if we receive non-arm�s length income from one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries (as defined under
��Requirements for Qualification�), we will be subject to a 100% tax on the amount of our non-arm�s-length
income.

Requirements for Qualification
     To qualify as a REIT, we must elect to be treated as a REIT, and we must meet various (a) organizational
requirements, (b) gross income tests, (c) asset tests, and (d) annual dividend requirements.
Organizational Requirements
     The Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:
� that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;
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� the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares, or by transferable certificates of

beneficial interest;

� that would otherwise be taxable as a domestic corporation, but for Sections 856 through 859 of the Code;

� that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company to which certain provisions of the Code apply;

� the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons;

� during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock of which is
owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code to also include certain
entities; and

� which meets certain other tests, described below, regarding the nature of its income and assets.
     The Code provides that the conditions described in the first through fourth bullet points above must be met during
the entire taxable year and that the condition described in the fifth bullet point above must be met during at least
335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a taxable year of less than 12 months.
     We expect that we will satisfy the conditions described in the first through fifth bullet points of the preceding
paragraph and believe that we will also satisfy the condition described in the sixth bullet point of the preceding
paragraph. In addition, our charter provides for restrictions regarding the ownership and transfer of our capital stock.
These restrictions are intended to assist us in continuing to satisfy the share ownership requirements described in the
fifth and sixth bullet points of the preceding paragraph. The ownership and transfer restrictions pertaining to the stock
are described earlier in this prospectus under the heading �Description of Capital Stock�Restrictions on Transfer.�
     For purposes of determining share ownership under the sixth bullet point, an �individual� generally includes a
supplemental unemployment compensation benefits plan, a private foundation, or a portion of a trust permanently set
aside or used exclusively for charitable purposes. An �individual,� however, generally does not include a trust that is a
qualified employee pension or profit sharing trust under the federal income tax laws, and beneficiaries of such a trust
will be treated as holding our shares in proportion to their actuarial interests in the trust for purposes of the sixth bullet
point.
     A corporation that is a �qualified REIT subsidiary� is not treated as a corporation separate from its parent REIT. All
assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of a �qualified REIT subsidiary� are treated as assets,
liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of the REIT. A �qualified REIT subsidiary� is a corporation, all of
the capital stock of which is owned by the REIT. Thus, in applying the requirements described herein, any �qualified
REIT subsidiary� that we own will be ignored, and all assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of
such subsidiary will be treated as our assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit.
     An unincorporated domestic entity, such as a limited liability company, that has a single owner, generally is not
treated as an entity separate from its owner for federal income tax purposes. An unincorporated domestic entity with
two or more owners is generally treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. In the case of a REIT that is
a partner in a partnership, the REIT is treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets of the partnership and as
earning its allocable share of the gross income of the partnership for purposes of the applicable REIT qualification
tests.
     If, as in our case, a REIT is a partner in a partnership, Treasury Regulations provide that the REIT will be deemed
to own its proportionate capital share of the assets of the partnership and will be deemed to be entitled to the income
of the partnership attributable to that capital share. In addition, the character of the assets and gross income of the
partnership will retain the same character in the hands of the REIT for purposes of Section 856 of the Code,
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including satisfying the gross income tests and the asset tests. Thus, our proportionate share of the assets, liabilities
and items of income of American Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP, or our �Operating Partnership,�
which is our principal asset, will be treated as our assets, liabilities and items of income for purposes of applying the
requirements described in this section. In addition, actions taken by the Operating Partnership or any other entity that
is either a disregarded entity (including a qualified REIT subsidiary) or partnership in which we own an interest, either
directly or through one or more tiers of disregarded entities (including qualified REIT subsidiaries) or partnerships
such as the Operating Partnership, can affect our ability to satisfy the REIT income and assets tests and the
determination of whether we have net income from prohibited transactions. Accordingly, for purposes of this
discussion, when we discuss our actions, income or assets we intend that to include the actions, income or assets of the
Operating Partnership or any entity that is either a disregarded entity (including a qualified REIT subsidiary) or
partnership for U.S. Federal income tax purposes in which we maintain an interest through multiple tiers of
disregarded entities (including qualified REIT subsidiaries) or partnerships.
Taxable REIT Subsidiaries
     A taxable REIT subsidiary, or a �TRS� is any corporation in which a REIT directly or indirectly owns stock,
provided that the REIT and that corporation make a joint election to treat that corporation as a taxable REIT
subsidiary. The election can be revoked at any time as long as the REIT and the TRS revoke such election jointly. In
addition, if a TRS holds directly or indirectly, more than 35% of the securities of any other corporation (by vote or by
value), then that other corporation is also treated as a TRS. A corporation can be a TRS with respect to more than one
REIT. We have made a TRS election for American Campus Communities Services, Inc., our taxable REIT subsidiary.
     A TRS is subject to Federal income tax at regular corporate rates (maximum rate of 35%), and may also be subject
to state and local taxation. Any dividends paid or deemed paid by any one of our taxable REIT subsidiaries will also
be subject to tax, either (i) to us if we do not pay the dividends received to our stockholders as dividends, or (ii) to our
stockholders if we do pay out the dividends received to our stockholders. Further, the rules impose a 100% excise tax
on transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT or the parent REIT�s tenants that are not conducted on an
arm�s-length basis. We may hold more than 10% of the stock of a TRS without jeopardizing our qualification as a
REIT notwithstanding the rule described below under ��Asset Tests� that generally precludes ownership of more than
10% (by vote or value) of any issuer�s securities. However, as noted below, in order for us to qualify as a REIT, the
securities of all of the taxable REIT subsidiaries in which we have invested either directly or indirectly may not
represent more than 20% of the total value of our assets. We expect that the aggregate value of all of our interests in
taxable REIT subsidiaries will represent less than 20% of the total value of our assets, and will, to the extent
necessary, limit the activities of the Services Company or take other actions necessary to satisfy the 20% value limit.
We cannot, however, assure that we will always satisfy the 20% value limit or that the IRS will agree with the value
we assign to the Services Company and any other TRS in which we own an interest.
     A TRS is not permitted to directly or indirectly operate or manage a �lodging facility.� A �lodging facility� is defined
as a �hotel, motel or other establishment more than one-half of the dwelling units in which are used on a transient basis.�
We believe that our Services Company will not be considered to operate or manage a lodging facility. Although the
Services Company is expected to lease certain of our student housing properties on a short term basis during the
summer months and occasionally during other times of the year, we believe that such limited short term leasing will
not cause the Services Company to be considered to directly or indirectly operate or manage a lodging facility. Our
belief in this regard is based in part on Treasury Regulations interpreting similar language applicable to other
provisions of the Code. Treasury Regulations or other guidance specifically adopted for purposes of the TRS
provisions might take a different approach, and, even absent such guidance, the IRS might take a contrary view. In
such an event, we might be forced to change our method of operating the Services Company, which could adversely
affect us, or could cause the Services Company to fail to qualify as a TRS, in which event we would likely fail to
qualify as a REIT.
     We may engage in activities indirectly though a TRS as necessary or convenient to avoid receiving the benefit of
income or services that would jeopardize our REIT status if we engaged in the activities directly. In particular, we
would likely engage in activities through a TRS for providing services that are non-customary and services to
unrelated parties (such as our third party development and management services) that might produce income that does
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the Services Company, such as our interest in certain of the leasehold properties if we determine that the ownership
structure of such properties may produce income that would not qualify for purposes of the REIT income tests
described below.
Gross Income Tests
     We must satisfy two gross income tests annually to maintain our qualification as a REIT.
     First, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year must consist of defined types of income that we
derive, directly or indirectly, from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property or qualified
temporary investment income. Qualifying income for purposes of that 75% gross income test generally includes:
� rents from real property;

� interest on debt secured by mortgages on real property, or on interests in real property;

� dividends or other distributions on, and gain from the sale of, shares in other REITs;

� gain from the sale of real estate assets; and

� income derived from the temporary investment of new capital that is attributable to the issuance of our shares
of beneficial interest or a public offering of our debt with a maturity date of at least five years and that we
receive during the one year period beginning on the date on which we received such new capital.

     Second, in general, at least 95% of our gross income for each taxable year must consist of income that is qualifying
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, other types of interest and dividends, gain from the sale or
disposition of stock or securities or any combination of these.
     Gross income from our sale of property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
business is excluded from both the numerator and the denominator in both income tests. The following paragraphs
discuss the specific application of the gross income tests to us.

Rents from Real Property. Rent that we receive from our real property will qualify as �rents from real property,�
which is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests, only if the following conditions are
met:
� First, the rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. Participating rent,

however, will qualify as �rents from real property� if it is based on percentages of receipts or sales and the
percentages: (a) are fixed at the time the leases are entered into, (b) are not renegotiated during the term of the
leases in a manner that has the effect of basing rent on income or profits, and (c) conform with normal business
practice.

More generally, the rent will not qualify as �rents from real property� if, considering the relevant lease and all of
the surrounding circumstances, the arrangement does not conform with normal business practice, but is in
reality used as a means of basing the rent on income or profits. We intend to set and accept rents which are
fixed dollar amounts, and not to any extent by reference to any person�s income or profits, in compliance with
the rules above.

� Second, we must not own, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the stock or the assets or net profits of
any lessee, referred to as a related party tenant, other than a TRS. The constructive ownership rules generally
provide that, if 10% or more in value of our shares is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for any person, we are
considered as owning the stock owned, directly or indirectly, by or for such person.
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We do not own any stock or any assets or net profits of any lessee directly, except that we may lease office or
other space to our TRS or another taxable REIT subsidiary. We believe that each of the leases will conform
with normal business practice, contain arm�s-length terms and that the rent payable under those leases will be
treated as rents from real property for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests. However, there can be
no assurance that the IRS will not successfully assert a contrary position or that a change in circumstances will
not cause a portion of the rent payable under the leases to fail to qualify as �rents from real property.� If such
failures were in sufficient amounts, we might not be able to satisfy either of the 75% or 95% gross income tests
and could lose our REIT status. In addition, if the IRS successfully reapportions or reallocates items of income,
deduction, and credit among and between us and our TRS under the leases or any intercompany transaction
because it determines that doing so is necessary to prevent the evasion of taxes or to clearly reflect income, we
could be subject to a 100% excise tax on those amounts. As described above, we may own one or more taxable
REIT subsidiaries. Under an exception to the related-party tenant rule described in the preceding paragraph,
rent that we receive from a taxable REIT subsidiary will qualify as �rents from real property� as long as (1) at
least 90% of the leased space in the property is leased to persons other than taxable REIT subsidiaries and
related party tenants, and (2) the amount paid by the TRS to rent space at the property is substantially
comparable to rents paid by other tenants of the property for comparable space. If we receive rent from a TRS,
we will seek to comply with this exception. Whether rents paid by our TRS are substantially comparable to
rents paid by our other tenants is determined at the time the lease with the TRS is entered into, extended, and
modified, if such modification increases the rents due under such lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
however, if a lease with a controlled TRS is modified and such modification results in an increase in the rents
payable by such TRS, any such increase will not qualify as �rents from real property.� For purposes of this rule, a
�controlled TRS� is a TRS in which we own stock possessing more than 50% of the voting power or more than
50% of the total value of the outstanding stock of such TRS.

� Third, the rent attributable to the personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property must not
be greater than 15% of the total rent received under the lease.

The rent attributable to personal property under a lease is the amount that bears the same ratio to total rent
under the lease for the taxable year as the average of the fair market values of the leased personal property at
the beginning and at the end of the taxable year bears to the average of the aggregate fair market values of both
the real and personal property covered by the lease at the beginning and at the end of such taxable year (the
�personal property ratio�). With respect to each of our leases, we believe that the personal property ratio
generally is less than 15%. Where that is not, or may in the future not be, the case, we believe that any income
attributable to personal property will not jeopardize our ability to qualify as a REIT.

� Fourth, we cannot furnish or render noncustomary services to the tenants of our properties, or manage or
operate our properties, other than through an independent contractor who is adequately compensated and from
whom we do not derive or receive any income. However, we need not provide services through an �independent
contractor,� but instead may provide services directly to our tenants, if the services are �usually or customarily
rendered� in connection with the rental of space for occupancy only and are not considered to be provided for
the tenants� convenience. In addition, we may provide a minimal amount of �noncustomary� services to the
tenants of a property, other than through an independent contractor, as long as our income from the services
does not exceed 1% of our income from the related property. Finally, we may own up to 100% of the stock of
one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, which may provide noncustomary services to our tenants without
tainting our rents from the related properties.

     We do not intend to perform any services other than customary ones for our lessees, other than services provided
through independent contractors or taxable REIT subsidiaries. If a portion of the rent we receive from a property does
not qualify as �rents from real property� because the rent attributable to personal property exceeds 15% of the total rent
for a taxable year, the portion of the rent attributable to personal property will not be qualifying income for purposes
of either the 75% or 95% gross income test. If rent attributable to personal property, plus any
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other income that is nonqualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, during a taxable year exceeds
5% of our gross income during the year, we could lose our REIT status. By contrast, in the following circumstances,
none of the rent from a lease of property would qualify as �rents from real property�: (1) the rent is considered based on
the income or profits of the lessee; (2) the lessee is a related party tenant or fails to qualify for the exception to the
related-party tenant rule for qualifying taxable REIT subsidiaries; or (3) we furnish noncustomary services to the
tenants of the property, or manage or operate the property, other than through a qualifying independent contractor or a
TRS and our income from the services exceeds 1% of our income from the related property.
     Tenants may be required to pay, besides base rent, reimbursements for certain amounts we are obligated to pay to
third parties (such as utility and telephone companies), penalties for nonpayment or late payment of rent, lease
application or administrative fees. These and other similar payments should qualify as �rents from real property.�

Interest. The term �interest� generally does not include any amount received or accrued, directly or indirectly, if the
determination of the amount depends in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. However, an amount
received or accrued generally will not be excluded from the term �interest� solely because it is based on a fixed
percentage or percentages of receipts or sales. Furthermore, in the case of a shared appreciation mortgage, any
additional interest received on a sale of the secured property will be treated as gain from the sale of the secured
property.

Prohibited Transactions. A REIT will incur a 100% tax on the net income derived from any sale or other
disposition of property, other than foreclosure property, that the REIT holds primarily for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of a trade or business. We do not have any current intention to sell any of our properties. Even if we
do sell any of our properties, we believe that none of our assets will be held primarily for sale to customers and that a
sale of any of our assets will not be in the ordinary course of our business. Whether a REIT holds an asset �primarily
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business� depends, however, on the facts and circumstances in
effect from time to time, including those related to a particular asset. Nevertheless, we will attempt to comply with the
terms of safe- harbor provisions in the federal income tax laws prescribing when an asset sale will not be characterized
as a prohibited transaction.

Foreclosure Property. We will be subject to tax at the maximum corporate rate on certain income from foreclosure
property. We do not own any foreclosure properties and do not expect to own any foreclosure properties in the future.
This would only change in the future if we were to make loans to third parties secured by real property.

Hedging Transactions. From time to time, we may enter into hedging transactions with respect to one or more of
our assets or liabilities. Our hedging activities may include entering into interest rate swaps, caps, and floors, options
to purchase such items, and futures and forward contracts. For 2004, any periodic income or gain from the disposition
of any financial instrument for these or similar transactions to hedge indebtedness we incur to acquire or carry �real
estate assets� should be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not the 75% gross income
test. Beginning in 2005, income from certain hedging transactions, clearly identified as such, is not included in our
gross income for purposes of the 95% gross income test. Since the financial markets continually introduce new and
innovative instruments related to risk-sharing or trading, it is not entirely clear which such instruments will generate
income which will be considered qualifying income for purposes of the gross income tests. We intend to structure any
hedging or similar transactions so as not to jeopardize our status as a REIT.
Failure to Satisfy Gross Income Tests
     Beginning in 2005, if we fail to satisfy one or both of the gross income tests for any taxable year, we nevertheless
may qualify as a REIT for that year if we qualify for relief under certain provisions of the federal income tax laws.
Those relief provisions generally will be available if:
� our failure to meet the income tests was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect; and
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� we file a description of each item of our gross income in accordance with applicable Treasury Regulations.

     We cannot with certainty predict whether any failure to meet these tests will qualify for the relief provisions. As
discussed above in ��Taxation of Our Company,� even if the relief provisions apply, we would incur a 100% tax on the
gross income attributable to the greater of the amounts by which we fail the 75% and 95% gross income tests,
multiplied by a fraction intended to reflect our profitability.
Asset Tests
     To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we also must satisfy the following asset tests at the end of each quarter of
each taxable year:
� First, at least 75% of the value of our total assets must consist of: (a) cash or cash items, including certain

receivables, (b) government securities, (c) interests in real property, including leaseholds and options to acquire
real property and leaseholds, (d) interests in mortgages on real property, (e) stock in other REITs, and
(f) investments in stock or debt instruments during the one year period following our receipt of new capital that
we raise through equity offerings or offerings of debt with at least a five year term;

� Second, of our investments not included in the 75% asset class, the value of our interest in any one issuer�s
securities may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets;

� Third, we may not own more than 10% of the voting power or value of any one issuer�s outstanding securities;

� Fourth, no more than 20% of the value of our total assets may consist of the securities of one or more taxable
REIT subsidiaries; and

� Fifth, no more than 25% of the value of our total assets may consist of the securities of taxable REIT
subsidiaries and other non-TRS taxable subsidiaries and other assets that are not qualifying assets for purposes
of the 75% asset test.

     For purposes of the second and third asset tests, the term �securities� does not include stock in another REIT, equity
or debt securities of a qualified REIT subsidiary or TRS, mortgage loans that constitute real estate assets, or equity
interests in a partnership. For purposes of the 10% value test, the term �securities� generally does not include debt
securities issued by a partnership to the extent of our interest as a partner of the partnership or if at least 75% of the
partnership�s gross income (excluding income from prohibited transactions) is qualifying income for purposes of the
75% gross income test. In addition, �straight debt� and certain other instruments are not treated as �securities� for
purposes of the 10% value test.
Failure to Satisfy the Asset Tests
     We will monitor the status of our assets for purposes of the various asset tests and will manage our portfolio in
order to comply at all times with such tests. If we fail to satisfy the asset tests at the end of a calendar quarter, we will
not lose our REIT status if:
� we satisfied the asset tests at the end of the preceding calendar quarter; and

� the discrepancy between the value of our assets and the asset test requirements arose from changes in the
market values of our assets and was not wholly or partly caused by the acquisition of one or more
non-qualifying assets.

     If we did not satisfy the condition described in the second item, above, we still could avoid disqualification by
eliminating any discrepancy within 30 days after the close of the calendar quarter in which it arose.
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     Beginning in the 2005 taxable year, if we fail to satisfy one or more of the asset tests for any quarter of a taxable
year, we nevertheless may qualify as a REIT for such year if we qualify for relief under certain provisions of the
Code. These relief provisions generally will be available for failures of the 5% asset test and the 10% asset tests if
(i) the failure is due to the ownership of assets that do not exceed the lesser of 1% of our total assets or $10 million,
and the failure is corrected within 6 months following the quarter in which it was discovered, or (ii) the failure is due
to ownership of assets that exceed the amount in (i) above, the failure is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful
neglect, we file a schedule with a description of each asset causing the failure in accordance with Treasury
Regulations, the failure is corrected within 6 months following the quarter in which it was discovered, and we pay a
tax consisting of the greater of $50,000 or a tax computed at the highest corporate rate on the amount of net income
generated by the assets causing the failure from the date of failure until the assets are disposed of or we otherwise
return to compliance with the asset test. We may not qualify for the relief provisions in all circumstances.
Distribution Requirements
     Each taxable year, we must distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends and deemed distributions of
retained capital gains, to our stockholders in an aggregate amount not less than: the sum of (a) 90% of our �REIT
taxable income,� computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or our net capital gain or loss, and (b) 90%
of our after-tax net income, if any, from foreclosure property, minus the sum of certain items of non-cash income.
     We must pay such dividends in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if we declare
the dividend before we timely file our federal income tax return for the year and pay the dividend on or before the first
regular dividend payment date after such declaration.
     To the extent that we do not distribute all of our net capital gains or distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of
our real estate investment trust taxable income, as adjusted, we will have to pay tax on those amounts at regular
ordinary and capital gains corporate tax rates. Furthermore, if we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least
the sum of (a) 85% of our ordinary income for that year, (b) 95% of our capital gain net income for that year, and
(c) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would have to pay a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the
excess of the required dividend over the amounts actually distributed.
     We may elect to retain and pay income tax on the net long-term capital gains we receive in a taxable year. See
��Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders.� If we so elect, we will be treated as having distributed any such retained amount
for purposes of the 4% excise tax described above. We intend to make timely dividends sufficient to satisfy the annual
dividend requirements and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax.
     It is possible that, from time to time, we may experience timing differences between the actual receipt of income
and actual payment of deductible expenses and the inclusion of that income and deduction of such expenses in
arriving at our REIT taxable income. For example, we may not deduct recognized capital losses from our �REIT
taxable income.� Further, it is possible that, from time to time, we may be allocated a share of net capital gains
attributable to the sale of depreciated property that exceeds our allocable share of cash attributable to that sale. As a
result of the foregoing, we may have less cash than is necessary to distribute all of our taxable income and thereby
avoid corporate income tax and the excise tax imposed on certain undistributed income. In such a situation, we may
need to borrow funds or issue additional common or preferred shares or pay dividends in the form of taxable stock
dividends.
     Under certain circumstances, we may be able to correct a failure to meet the distribution requirements for a year by
paying �deficiency dividends� to our stockholders in a later year. We may include such deficiency dividends in our
deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. Although we may be able to avoid income tax on amounts distributed
as deficiency dividends, we will be required to pay interest based upon the amount of any deduction we take for
deficiency dividends.
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Recordkeeping Requirements
     We must maintain certain records in order to qualify as a REIT. In addition, to avoid paying a penalty, we must
request on an annual basis information from our stockholders designed to disclose the actual ownership of the
outstanding common stock. We have complied and intend to continue to comply with these requirements.
Accounting Period
     In order to elect to be taxed as a REIT, we must use a calendar year accounting period. We use the calendar year as
our accounting period for federal income tax purposes for each and every year we intend to operate as a REIT.
Failure to Qualify as a REIT
     If we failed to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and no relief provision applied, we would have the following
consequences. We would be subject to federal income tax and any applicable alternative minimum tax at rates
applicable to regular C corporations on our taxable income, determined without reduction for amounts distributed to
stockholders. We would not be required to make any distributions to stockholders, and any dividends to stockholders
would be taxable as ordinary income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits (which may be
subject to tax at preferential rates to individual stockholders). Corporate stockholders could be eligible for a
dividends-received deduction if certain conditions are satisfied. Unless we qualified for relief under specific statutory
provisions, we would not be permitted to elect taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during
which we ceased to qualify as a REIT. We might not be entitled to the statutory relief described in this paragraph in all
circumstances.
Relief From Certain Failures of the REIT Qualification Provisions
     Beginning in the 2005 taxable year, if we fail to satisfy one or more of the requirements for REIT qualification
(other than the income tests or the asset tests), we nevertheless may avoid termination of our REIT election in such
year if the failure is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and we pay a penalty of $50,000 for each
failure to satisfy the REIT qualification requirements. We may not qualify for this relief provision in all
circumstances.
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders
     As used in this section, the term �U.S. holder� means a holder of securities who, for United States Federal income tax
purposes, is:
� a citizen or resident of the United States;

� a domestic partnership;

� a domestic corporation;

� an estate whose income is subject to United States Federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

� a trust if a United States court can exercise primary supervision over the trust�s administration and one or more
United States persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

     As long as we qualify as a REIT, distributions made by us out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits,
and not designated as capital gain dividends, will constitute dividends taxable to our taxable U.S. holders as ordinary
income. Individuals receiving �qualified dividends� from domestic and certain qualifying foreign subchapter C
corporations may be entitled to lower rates on dividends (at rates applicable to long-term capital gains, currently at a
maximum rate of 15%) provided certain holding period requirements are met. However, individuals
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receiving dividend distributions from us, a REIT, will generally not be eligible for the recent lower rates on dividends
except with respect to the portion of any distribution which (a) represents dividends being passed through to us from a
corporation in which we own shares (but only if such dividends would be eligible for the recent lower rates on
dividends if paid by the corporation to its individual stockholders), including dividends from our TRS, (b) is equal to
our REIT taxable income (taking into account the dividends paid deduction available to us) less any taxes paid by us
on these items during our previous taxable year, or (c) are attributable to built-in gains realized and recognized by us
from the disposition of properties acquired by us in certain non-recognition transactions, less any taxes paid by us on
these items during our previous taxable year. The lower rates will apply only to the extent we designate a distribution
as qualified dividend income in a written notice to you. Individual taxable U.S. holders should consult their own tax
advisors to determine the impact of these provisions. Dividends of this kind will not be eligible for the dividends
received deduction in the case of taxable U.S. holders that are corporations. Dividends made by us that we properly
designate as capital gain dividends will be taxable to taxable U.S. holders as gain from the sale of a capital asset held
for more than one year, to the extent that they do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year, without
regard to the period for which a taxable U.S. holder has held its common stock. Thus, with certain limitations, capital
gain dividends received by an individual taxable U.S. holder may be eligible for preferential rates of taxation. Taxable
U.S. holders that are corporations may, however, be required to treat up to 20% of certain capital gain dividends as
ordinary income.
     The 15% reduced maximum tax rate on �qualified dividends� and certain long-term capital gains, as described above,
was provided in the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 and generally is effective for taxable
years ending on or after May 6, 2003 through December 31, 2008. On May 17, 2006, President Bush signed the Tax
Relief Extension Reconciliation Act of 2005, which extended this reduction until December 31, 2010. Without future
legislative changes, the maximum long-term capital gains and dividend rate discussed above will increase in 2011.
This recent legislation could cause stock in non-REIT corporations to be a more attractive investment to individual
investors than stock in REITs and could have an adverse effect on the market price of our equity securities.
     To the extent that we pay dividends, not designated as capital gain dividends, in excess of our current and
accumulated earnings and profits, these dividends will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to each taxable
U.S. holder. Thus, these dividends will reduce the adjusted basis which the taxable U.S. holder has in our stock for tax
purposes by the amount of the dividend, but not below zero. Dividends in excess of a taxable U.S. holder�s adjusted
basis in its common stock will be taxable as capital gains, provided that the stock has been held as a capital asset.
     Dividends authorized by us in October, November, or December of any year and payable to a stockholder of record
on a specified date in any of these months will be treated as both paid by us and received by the stockholder on
December 31 of that year, provided that we actually pay the dividend in January of the following calendar year.
Stockholders may not include in their own income tax returns any of our net operating losses or capital losses.
     We may elect to retain, rather than distribute, all or a portion of our net long-term capital gains and pay the tax on
such gains. If we make such an election, we will designate amounts as undistributed capital gains in respect of your
shares or beneficial interests by written notice to you which we will mail out to you with our annual report or at any
time within 60 days after December 31 of any year. When we make such an election, taxable U.S. holders holding
common stock at the close of our taxable year will be required to include, in computing their long-term capital gains
for the taxable year in which the last day of our taxable year falls, the amount that we designate in a written notice
mailed to our stockholders. We may not designate amounts in excess of our undistributed net capital gain for the
taxable year. Each taxable U.S. holder required to include the designated amount in determining the holder�s long-term
capital gains will be deemed to have paid, in the taxable year of the inclusion, the tax paid by us in respect of the
undistributed net capital gains. Taxable U.S. holders to whom these rules apply will be allowed a credit or a refund, as
the case may be, for the tax they are deemed to have paid. Taxable U.S. holders will increase their basis in their stock
by the difference between the amount of the includible gains and the tax deemed paid by the stockholder in respect of
these gains.
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     Dividends made by us and gain arising from a taxable U.S. holder�s sale or exchange of our stock will not be treated
as passive activity income. As a result, taxable U.S. holders generally will not be able to apply any passive losses
against that income or gain.
     When a taxable U.S. holder sells or otherwise disposes of our securities, the holder will recognize gain or loss for
Federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the difference between (a) the amount of cash and the fair market
value of any property received on the sale or other disposition, and (b) the holder�s adjusted basis in the security for tax
purposes. This gain or loss will be capital gain or loss if the U.S. holder has held the security as a capital asset. The
gain or loss will be long-term gain or loss if the U.S. holder has held the security for more than one year. Long-term
capital gains of an individual taxable U.S. holder is generally taxed at preferential rates. The highest marginal
individual income tax rate is currently 35%. The maximum tax rate on long-term capital gains applicable to
individuals is 15% for sales and exchanges of assets held for more than one year and occurring after May 6, 2003
through December 31, 2010. The maximum tax rate on long-term capital gains from the sale or exchange of �section
1250 property� (i.e., generally, depreciable real property) is 25% to the extent the gain would have been treated as
ordinary income if the property were �section 1245 property� (i.e., generally, depreciable personal property). We
generally may designate whether a distribution we designate as capital gain dividends (and any retained capital gain
that we are deemed to distribute) is taxable to non-corporate holders at a 15% or 25% rate. The characterization of
income as capital gain or ordinary income may affect the deductibility of capital losses. A non-corporate taxpayer may
deduct capital losses not offset by capital gains against its ordinary income only up to a maximum of $3,000 annually.
A non-corporate taxpayer may carry unused capital losses forward indefinitely. A corporate taxpayer must pay tax on
its net capital gains at corporate ordinary income rates. A corporate taxpayer may deduct capital losses only to the
extent of capital gains, with unused losses carried back three years and forward five years. In general, any loss
recognized by a taxable U.S. holder when the holder sells or otherwise disposes of our securities that the holder has
held for six months or less, after applying certain holding period rules, will be treated as a long-term capital loss, to
the extent of dividends received by the holder from us which were required to be treated as long-term capital gains.
Information Reporting Requirements and Backup Withholding
     We will report to our holders of our debt securities and stock and to the Internal Revenue Service the amount of
interest or dividends we pay during each calendar year and the amount of tax we withhold, if any. A holder may be
subject to backup withholding at a rate of 28% with respect to interest or dividends unless the holder:
� is a corporation or comes within certain other exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates this fact; or

� provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies as to no loss of exemption from backup withholding, and
otherwise complies with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.

     A holder who does not provide us with its correct taxpayer identification number also may be subject to penalties
imposed by the Internal Revenue Service. Any amount paid as backup withholding will be creditable against the
holder�s income tax liability. In addition, we may be required to withhold a portion of capital gain dividends to any
holders who fail to certify their non-foreign status to us. For a discussion of the backup withholding rules as applied to
non-U.S. holders, see ��Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders.�
Taxation of Tax-Exempt Holders
     Amounts distributed as dividends by a REIT generally do not constitute unrelated business taxable income when
received by a tax-exempt entity. Provided that a tax-exempt holder is not one of the types of entity described in the
next paragraph and has not held its stock as �debt financed property� within the meaning of the Code, and the stock is
not otherwise used in a trade or business, the dividend income from the stock will not be unrelated business taxable
income to a tax-exempt stockholder. Similarly, income from the sale of stock will not constitute unrelated business
taxable income unless the tax-exempt holder has held the stock as �debt financed property� within the meaning of the
Code or has used the stock in a trade or business.
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     Income from an investment in our securities will constitute unrelated business taxable income for tax-exempt
stockholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit
trusts, and qualified group legal services plans exempt from Federal income taxation under the applicable subsections
of Section 501(c) of the Code, unless the organization is able to properly deduct amounts set aside or placed in reserve
for certain purposes so as to offset the income generated by its securities. Prospective investors of the types described
in the preceding sentence should consult their own tax advisors concerning these �set aside� and reserve requirements.
     Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, a portion of the dividends paid by a �pension-held REIT� will be treated as
unrelated business taxable income to any trust which:
� is described in Section 401(a) of the Code;

� is tax-exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code; and

� holds more than 10% (by value) of the equity interests in the REIT.
     Tax-exempt pension, profit-sharing and stock bonus funds that are described in Section 401(a) of the Code are
referred to below as �qualified trusts.� A REIT is a �pension-held REIT� if:
� it would not have qualified as a REIT but for the fact that Section 856(h)(3) of the Code provides that stock

owned by qualified trusts will be treated, for purposes of the �not closely held� requirement, as owned by the
beneficiaries of the trust (rather than by the trust itself); and

� either (a) at least one qualified trust holds more than 25% by value of the interests in the REIT or (b) one or
more qualified trusts, each of which owns more than 10% by value of the interests in the REIT, hold in the
aggregate more than 50% by value of the interests in the REIT.

     The percentage of any REIT dividend treated as unrelated business taxable income to a qualifying trust is equal to
the ratio of (a) the gross income of the REIT from unrelated trades or businesses, determined as though the REIT were
a qualified trust, less direct expenses related to this gross income, to (b) the total gross income of the REIT, less direct
expenses related to the total gross income. A de minimis exception applies where this percentage is less than 5% for
any year. We do not expect to be classified as a pension-held REIT, but this cannot be guaranteed.
     The rules described above in ��Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders� concerning the inclusion of our designated
undistributed net capital gains in the income of our stockholders will apply to tax-exempt entities. Thus, tax-exempt
entities will be allowed a credit or refund of the tax deemed paid by these entities in respect of the includible gains.
Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders
     The rules governing U.S. Federal income taxation of nonresident alien individuals, foreign corporations, foreign
partnerships and other foreign stockholders are complex. This section is only a summary of such rules. We urge
non-U.S. holders to consult their own tax advisors to determine the impact of federal, state, and local income tax laws
on ownership of common stock, including any reporting requirements.

Ordinary Dividends. Dividends, other than dividends that are treated as attributable to gain from sales or exchanges
by us of U.S. real property interests, as discussed below, and other than dividends designated by us as capital gain
dividends, will be treated as ordinary income to the extent that they are made out of our current or accumulated
earnings and profits. A withholding tax equal to 30% of the gross amount of the dividend will ordinarily apply to
dividends of this kind to non-U.S. holders, unless an applicable income tax treaty reduces that tax. However, if income
from an investment in our stock is treated as effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder�s conduct of a U.S. trade
or business or is attributable to a permanent establishment that the non-U.S. holder maintains in the United States (if
that is required by an applicable income tax treaty as a condition for subjecting the
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non-U.S. holder to U.S. taxation on a net income basis), tax at graduated rates will generally apply to the non-U.S.
holder in the same manner as U.S. holders are taxed with respect to dividends, and the 30% branch profits tax may
also apply if the stockholder is a foreign corporation. We expect to withhold U.S. tax at the rate of 30% on the gross
amount of any dividends, other than dividends treated as attributable to gain from sales or exchanges of U.S. real
property interests and capital gain dividends, paid to a non-U.S. holder, unless (a) a lower treaty rate applies and the
required form evidencing eligibility for that reduced rate (ordinarily, IRS Form W-8BEN) is filed with us or the
appropriate withholding agent or (b) the non-U.S. holder files an IRS Form W-8ECI or a successor form with us or the
appropriate withholding agent claiming that the dividends are effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder�s conduct
of a U.S. trade or business.
     Dividends to a non-U.S. holder that are designated by us at the time of dividend as capital gain dividends which are
not attributable to or treated as attributable to the disposition by us of a U.S. real property interest generally will not be
subject to U.S. Federal income taxation, except as described below.

Return of Capital. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, which are not
treated as attributable to the gain from our disposition of a U.S. real property interest, will not be taxable to a non-U.S.
holder to the extent that they do not exceed the adjusted basis of the non-U.S. holder�s stock. Distributions of this kind
will instead reduce the adjusted basis of the stock. To the extent that distributions of this kind exceed the adjusted
basis of a non-U.S. holder�s common stock, they will give rise to tax liability if the non-U.S. holder otherwise would
have to pay tax on any gain from the sale or disposition of its common stock, as described below. If it cannot be
determined at the time a distribution is made whether the distribution will be in excess of current and accumulated
earnings and profits, withholding will apply to the distribution at the rate applicable to dividends. However, the
non-U.S. holder may seek a refund of these amounts from the IRS if it is subsequently determined that the distribution
was, in fact, in excess of our current accumulated earnings and profits.

Capital Gain Dividends. For any year in which we qualify as a REIT, dividends that are attributable to gain from
sales or exchanges by us of U.S. real property interests will be taxed to a non-U.S. holder under the provisions of the
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, as amended. Under this statute, these dividends are taxed to a
non-U.S. holder as if the gain were effectively connected with a U.S. business. Thus, non-U.S. holders will be taxed
on the dividends at the normal capital gain rates applicable to U.S. holders, subject to any applicable alternative
minimum tax and special alternative minimum tax in the case of non-U.S. holders that are individuals. Beginning in
our 2005 taxable year, the above rules relating to distributions attributable to gains from our sales or exchanges of
U.S. real property interests (or such gains that are retained and deemed to be distributed) will not apply with respect to
a non-U.S. holder that does not own more than 5% of our common stock at any time during the taxable year, provided
our common stock is �regularly traded� on an established securities market in the United States. We are required by
applicable Treasury Regulations under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, as amended, to
withhold 35% of any distribution that we could designate as a capital gains dividend. However, if we designate as a
capital gain dividend a distribution made before the day we actually effect the designation, then although the
distribution may be taxable to a non-U.S. holder, withholding does not apply to the distribution under this statute.
Rather, we must effect the 35% withholding from distributions made on and after the date of the designation, until the
distributions so withheld equal the amount of the prior distribution designated as a capital gain dividend. The non-U.S.
holder may credit the amount withheld against its U.S. tax liability.

Sale of Common Stock. Gain recognized by a non-U.S. holder upon a sale or exchange of our common stock
generally will not be taxed under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act if we are a �domestically controlled
REIT,� defined generally as a REIT, less than 50% in value of whose stock is and was held directly or indirectly by
foreign persons at all times during a specified testing period. We believe that we will be a domestically controlled
REIT, and, therefore, that taxation under this statute generally will not apply to the sale of our common stock,
however, because our stock is publicly traded, no assurance can be given that the we will qualify as a domestically
controlled REIT at any time in the future. Gain to which this statute does not apply will be taxable to a non-U.S.
holder if investment in the common stock is treated as effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder�s U.S. trade or
business or is attributable to a permanent establishment that the non-U.S. holder maintains in the United States (if that
is required by an applicable income tax treaty as a condition for subjecting the non-U.S. holders to U.S. taxation on a
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a non-U.S. holder if the non-U.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual who
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was present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year to which the gain is attributable. In this
case, a 30% tax will apply to the nonresident alien individual�s capital gains. A similar rule will apply to capital gain
dividends to which this statute does not apply.
     If we were not a domestically controlled REIT, tax under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act would
apply to a non-U.S. holder�s sale of common stock only if the selling non-U.S. holders owned more than 5% of the
class of common stock sold at any time during a specified period. This period is generally the shorter of the period
that the non-U.S. holder owned the common stock sold or the five-year period ending on the date when the
stockholder disposed of the common stock. If tax under this statute applies to the gain on the sale of common stock,
the same treatment would apply to the non-U.S. holder as to U.S. holders with respect to the gain, subject to any
applicable alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of nonresident alien individuals.
Backup Withholding and Information Reporting
     If you are a non-U.S. holder, you are generally exempt from backup withholding and information reporting
requirements with respect to:
� dividend payments;

� the payment of the proceeds from the sale of common stock effected at a United States office of a broker, as
long as the income associated with these payments is otherwise exempt from United States Federal income tax;
and

� the payor or broker does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a United States person and
you have furnished to the payor or broker: (a) a valid Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN or an
acceptable substitute form upon which you certify, under penalties of perjury, that you are a non-United States
person, or (b) other documentation upon which it may rely to treat the payments as made to a non-United
States person in accordance with U.S. Treasury Regulations, or (c) you otherwise establish an exemption.

     Payment of the proceeds from the sale of common stock effected at a foreign office of a broker generally will not
be subject to information reporting or backup withholding. However, a sale of common stock that is effected at a
foreign office of a broker will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding if:
� the proceeds are transferred to an account maintained by you in the United States;

� the payment of proceeds or the confirmation of the sale is mailed to you at a United States address; or

� the sale has some other specified connection with the United States as provided in U.S. Treasury Regulations,
unless the broker does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a United States person and the
documentation requirements described above are met or you otherwise establish an exemption.
     In addition, a sale of common stock will be subject to information reporting if it is effected at a foreign office of a
broker that is:
� a United States person;

� a controlled foreign corporation for United States tax purposes;

� a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income is effectively connected with the conduct of a United
States trade or business for a specified three-year period; or
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� a foreign partnership, if at any time during its tax year: (a) one or more of its partners are �U.S.

persons,� as defined in U.S. Treasury Regulations, who in the aggregate hold more than 50% of the
income or capital interest in the partnership, or (b) such foreign partnership is engaged in the conduct
of a United States trade or business,

unless the broker does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a United States person and the
documentation requirements described above are met or you otherwise establish an exemption. Backup withholding
will apply if the sale is subject to information reporting and the broker has actual knowledge that you are a United
States person. You generally may obtain a refund of any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules that
exceed your income tax liability by filing a refund claim with the Internal Revenue Service.
Tax Aspects of Our Investments in the Operating Partnership
     The following discussion summarizes certain federal income tax considerations applicable to our direct or indirect
investment in the Operating Partnership and any subsidiary partnerships or limited liability companies we form or
acquire, each individually referred to as a Partnership and, collectively, as Partnerships. The following discussion does
not cover state or local tax laws or any federal tax laws other than income tax laws.
Classification as Partnerships
     We are entitled to include in our income our distributive share of each Partnership�s income and to deduct our
distributive share of each Partnership�s losses only if such Partnership is classified for federal income tax purposes as a
partnership, rather than as a corporation or an association taxable as a corporation. An organization with at least two
owners or partners will be classified as a partnership, rather than as a corporation, for federal income tax purposes if it:
� is treated as a partnership under the Treasury Regulations relating to entity classification (the �check-the-box

regulations�); and

� is not a �publicly traded� partnership.
     Under the check-the-box regulations, an unincorporated business entity with at least two owners or partners may
elect to be classified either as a corporation or as a partnership. If such an entity does not make an election, it generally
will be treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.
     We intend that each partnership we own an interest in will be classified as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes (or else a disregarded entity where there are not at least two separate beneficial owners).
     A publicly traded partnership is a partnership whose interests are traded on an established securities market or are
readily tradable on a secondary market (or a substantial equivalent). A publicly traded partnership is generally treated
as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, but will not be so treated for any taxable year for which at least 90%
of the partnership�s gross income consists of specified passive income, including real property rents, gains from the
sale or other disposition of real property, interest, and dividends (the �90% passive income exception�). Treasury
Regulations provide limited safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded partnership. Pursuant to one of those safe
harbors, known as the private placement exclusion, interests in a partnership will not be treated as readily tradable on
a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof if (1) all interests in the partnership were issued in a
transaction or transactions that were not required to be registered under the Securities Act, and (2) the partnership does
not have more than 100 partners at any time during the partnership�s taxable year. For the determination of the number
of partners in a partnership, a person owning an interest in a partnership, grantor trust, or S corporation that owns an
interest in the partnership is treated as a partner in the partnership only if (1) substantially all of the value of the
owner�s interest in the entity is attributable to the entity�s direct or indirect interest in the partnership, and (2) a principal
purpose of the use of the entity is to permit the partnership to satisfy the 100-partner limitation.
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     We expect that each partnership we own an interest in will qualify for the private placement exclusion, one of the
other safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded partnership, and/or will satisfy the 90% passive income
exception.
Income Taxation of the Partnerships and Their Partners
     We own 99.0% of the interests in the Operating Partnership and certain subsidiary partnerships. Entities that we
own 100% of the interests in (directly or through other disregarded entities) will be treated as disregarded entities. In
addition we may hold interests in partnership or LLCs that are not disregarded entities (the �Partnership� or
�Partnerships�).

Partners, Not the Partnerships, Subject to Tax. A Partnership is not a taxable entity for federal income tax
purposes. We will therefore take into account our allocable share of each Partnership�s income, gains, losses,
deductions, and credits for each taxable year of the Partnership ending with or within our taxable year, even if we
receive no distribution from the Partnership for that year or a distribution less than our share of taxable income.
Similarly, even if we receive a distribution, it may not be taxable if the distribution does not exceed our adjusted tax
basis in our interest in the Partnership.

Partnership Allocations. Although a partnership agreement generally will determine the allocation of income and
losses among partners, allocations will be disregarded for tax purposes if they do not comply with the provisions of
the federal income tax laws governing partnership allocations. If an allocation is not recognized for federal income tax
purposes, the item subject to the allocation will be reallocated in accordance with the partners� interests in the
Partnership, which will be determined by taking into account all of the facts and circumstances relating to the
economic arrangement of the partners with respect to such item. Each Partnership�s allocations of taxable income,
gain, and loss are intended to comply with the requirements of the federal income tax laws governing partnership
allocations.

Sale of a Partnership�s Property. Generally, any gain realized by a Partnership on the sale of property held for
more than one year will be long-term capital gain, except for any portion of the gain treated as depreciation or cost
recovery recapture. Conversely, our share of any Partnership gain from the sale of inventory or other property held
primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of the Partnership�s trade or business will be treated as income
from a prohibited transaction subject to a 100% tax. Income from a prohibited transaction may have an adverse effect
on our ability to satisfy the gross income tests for REIT status. See ��Requirements for Qualification.� We do not
presently intend to acquire or hold, or to allow any Partnership to acquire or hold, any property that is likely to be
treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our, or the Partnership�s,
trade or business.
State and Local Taxes
     We and/or our stockholders may be subject to taxation by various states and localities, including those in which we
or a holder transacts business, owns property or resides. The state and local tax treatment may differ from the federal
income tax treatment described above. Consequently, holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the
effect of state and local tax laws upon an investment in our securities.
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
     Our common stock being offered by this prospectus are being registered to permit secondary public trading of our
common stock. Subject to the restrictions described in this prospectus, the selling stockholders, or their pledgees,
donees, transferees or other successors in interest, may offer our common stock covered under this prospectus for
resale from time to time. The shares of common stock covered, as to their resale, under this prospectus include shares
issuable upon conversion of the units, including any additional shares issuable to prevent dilution as a result of stock
splits, stock dividends or similar events. In addition, subject to the restrictions described in this prospectus, the selling
stockholders may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of a portion of our common stock being offered under this
prospectus in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. See �Plan Of Distribution.�
     The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock and units held by the selling stockholders as
of February 1, 2007 and the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be sold by the selling
stockholders, or by any of their pledgees, donees, transferees or other successors in interest. Each unit may be
exchanged for one share of common stock, subject to adjustment. In lieu of issuing common stock upon the exchange
of the units, we may, at our option, issue cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of an equivalent number of
shares of our common stock. The table is prepared based on information from the selling stockholders. Based on such
information, no selling stockholder is a registered broker-dealer or an affiliate of a broker-dealer. Since the selling
stockholders may sell all, some or none of their shares, no estimate can be made of the aggregate number of shares
that are to be offered by the selling stockholders under this prospectus or that will be owned by each selling
stockholder upon completion of the offering to which this prospectus relates.

Maximum Number
of

Number of
Units Shares of Common

Selling Stockholder Held Stock to be Sold
Michael J. Henneman (1) 457,490 457,490
Roderick Schmidt 380,192 380,192
Keeling Family Irrevocable Trust 271,692 271,692
David Keeling 263,300 263,300
Eric Worner 191,905 191,905
Roger and Sheryl Marsh 71,943 71,943
Henneman Family LLC (1) 68,076 68,076
Schmidt Family Investments LLC 68,076 68,076
Rodney Poole 67,067 67,067
Ralph J. Henneman Trust 59,525 59,525
Michael Sheppard 55,279 55,279
Paul and Barbara Koch 42,591 42,591
Kent P. Dauten 32,171 32,171
David Diana Revocable Trust 27,230 27,230
Chad Worner 22,778 22,778
Dan Jaworski 19,607 19,607
HSW Properties LLC (1) 18,103 18,103
Dennis E. Smith 16,685 16,685
Sheryl Marsh 12,687 12,687
Joseph Giblin 10,616 10,616
Rita Henneman Trust 10,931 10,931
Donna Worner 9,646 9,646
Mary Jane Diana Revocable Trust 7,735 7,735
Lucille Frasca Trust 7,036 7,036
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Delores M. Henneman Trust B&C 5,271 5,271
Vernon Holland 4,246 4,246
Estate of Jeanette Holland 1,200 1,200
Jeffrey M. Fenster 1,070 1,070

Total 2,204,148 2,204,148

(1) Henneman
Family LLC and
HSW Properties
LLC are each
controlled by
Michael J.
Henneman. Mr.
Henneman is a
member of our
board of
directors.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
     The selling stockholders and any of their pledgees, donees, transferees and successors-in-interest may, from time to
time, sell any or all of their shares of common stock on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the
shares are traded or in private transactions. The selling stockholders may use any one or more of the following
methods when selling shares:
� ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

� block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and resell a
portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;

� purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

� an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

� privately negotiated transactions;

� settlement of short sales;

� broker-dealers may agree with the selling stockholders to sell a specified number of such shares at a stipulated
price per share;

� a combination of any such methods of sale; and

� any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.
     The selling stockholders may also sell shares under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, if available, rather
than under this prospectus. Broker-dealers engaged by the selling stockholders may arrange for other broker-dealers
may receive commissions or discounts from the selling stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent to the
purchase of shares, from the purchaser) in amount to be negotiated. The selling stockholders do not expect these
commissions and discounts to exceed what is customary in the types of transactions involved.
     The selling stockholders may from time to time pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the units or
common stock owned by them and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or
secured parties may offer and sell the common stock from time to time under this prospectus, or under an amendment
to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) or other applicable provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, amending the list
of selling stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successor-in-interest as a selling stockholder under
this prospectus.
     The selling stockholders may also transfer the common stock in other circumstances, in which case the pledgees,
donees, transferees or other successors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus.
     The selling stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the shares may be deemed to
be �underwriters� within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with such sales. In such event, any
commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the shares purchased by them
may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act of 1933. The selling
stockholders have informed us that none of them have any agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any
person to distribute the common stock.
     We will pay all fees and expenses incurred by us incident to the registration of the common stock.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
     We are a public company and file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information
with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC�s public reference room at 450 Fifth Street,
N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of these documents by writing to the SEC and paying a fee
for the copying cost. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for more information about the operation of the public
reference room. Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SEC�s web site at http://www.sec.gov. In
addition, you may read and copy our SEC filings at the office of the New York Stock Exchange at 20 Broad Street,
New York, New York 10005. Our website address is www.studenthousing.com.
     This prospectus is only part of a registration statement on Form S-3 that we have filed with the SEC under the
Securities Act of 1933 and therefore omits some of the information contained in the registration statement. We have
also filed exhibits and schedules to the registration statement that are excluded from this prospectus, and you should
refer to the applicable exhibit or schedule for a complete description of any statement referring to any contract or other
document. You may inspect or obtain a copy of the registration statement, including the exhibits and schedules, as
described in the previous paragraph.

INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE
     The SEC allows us to �incorporate by reference� the information we file with it, which means that we can disclose
important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is
considered to be part of this prospectus and the information we file later with the SEC will automatically update and
supersede this information.
     We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC (File
No. 001-32265) under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 until this offering is
completed:
� Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005;

� Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and September 30,
2006; and

� Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on February 13, 2006, March 7, 2006 as amended by the Current Report on
Form 8-K/A filed on May 9, 2006, August 22, 2006 and September 14, 2006.

     You may request a copy of these filings at no cost by writing or telephoning Investor Relations, at the following
address and telephone number:

American Campus Communities, Inc.
805 Las Cimas Parkway, Suite 400

Austin, Texas 78746
(512) 732-1000

     You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus or in the
supplement. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. You should not assume
that the information in this prospectus or any supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of
those documents.

LEGAL MATTERS
     Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP, Dallas, Texas, has passed on the legality of the common stock offered through this
prospectus.

35

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES INC - Form S-3

Table of Contents 47



Table of Contents

EXPERTS
     The consolidated and combined financial statements of American Campus Communities, Inc. and its subsidiaries
appearing in American Campus Communities, Inc.�s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,
2005 and American Campus Communities management�s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 included therein, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent
registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report included therein, and incorporated herein by reference.
Such financial statements and management�s assessment have been incorporated herein by reference and included
herein, respectively, in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and
auditing.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

ITEM 14. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.
     The following table sets forth the estimated expenses in connection with the offering contemplated by this
Registration Statement:

SEC Registration Fee $ 7,433
Accounting Fees and Expenses 10,000
Legal Fees and Expenses 30,000
Miscellaneous 2,567

Total $ 50,000

ITEM 15. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.
     Our charter contains a provision permitted under Maryland law requiring us to eliminate each director�s and officer�s
personal liability for monetary damages to the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law. Under current
Maryland law, the directors and officers are liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages only for liability
resulting either from acts of active and deliberate dishonesty established by final judgment as material to the cause of
action or from the actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services. In addition, to the
maximum extent permitted under Maryland law, our charter and bylaws require us to indemnify our directors and
officers and pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding if such director or
officer is made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity. These rights are contract
rights fully enforceable by each beneficiary of those rights, and are in addition to, and not exclusive of, any other right
to indemnification.
     We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors whereby we
indemnify such executive officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland Law against all expenses
and liabilities, subject to limited exceptions. These indemnification agreements also provide that upon an application
for indemnity by an executive officer or director to a court of appropriate jurisdiction, such court may order us to
indemnify such executive officer or director.
     In addition, our directors and officers are indemnified for specified liabilities and expenses pursuant to the
partnership agreement of American Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP.
ITEM 16. EXHIBITS.
      The list of exhibits is incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibit Index.
ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS.
     (a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
     (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this
registration statement:
     (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
�Securities Act�);
     (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or
the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information set forth in the registration statement;
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     (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) do not apply if information required to be included in a
post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed by the registrant pursuant to
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), that are incorporated by
reference in the registration statement.
     (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment
shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
     (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered
which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
     (b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the
Securities Act, each filing of the registrant�s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and,
where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan�s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.
     (c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers
and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been
advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy
as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against
such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or
controlling person in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or
controlling person of the registrant in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the
opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction
the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
     (d) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:
     (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of
prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of
prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed
to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
     (2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that
contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered
therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

II-2

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES INC - Form S-3

Table of Contents 50



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES
     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to
believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Austin, State of Texas, on the 2nd day
of February, 2007.

AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES,
INC.

By:  /s/ William C. Bayless, Jr.  
William C. Bayless, Jr. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

POWER OF ATTORNEY
     KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes
and appoints William C. Bayless, Jr., Brian B. Nickel and Jonathan A. Graf, and each of them, his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him, and on his behalf and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign, execute and file this Registration Statement under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any or all amendments (including, without limitation, post-effective
amendments), with all exhibits and any and all documents required to be filed with respect thereto, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission or any regulatory authority, granting unto such attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in
and about the premises in order to effectuate the same, as fully to all intents and purposes as he himself might or could
do if personally present, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done.
     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ William C. Bayless, Jr.

William C. Bayless, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) 

February 2,
2007

/s/ Brian B. Nickel

Brian B. Nickel

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Director (Principal Financial
Officer) 

February 2,
2007

/s/ Jonathan A. Graf

Jonathan A. Graf

Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting
Officer and Treasurer (Principal Accounting
Officer) 

February 2,
2007

/s/ R.D. Burck

R.D. Burck

Chairman of the Board of Directors February 2,
2007

/s/ G. Steven Dawson

G. Steven Dawson

Director February 2,
2007
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/s/ Cydney Donnell

Cydney Donnell

Director February 2,
2007
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Signature Title Date

/s/ Edward Lowenthal

Edward Lowenthal

Director February 2,
2007

/s/ Scott H. Rechler

Scott H. Rechler

Director February 2,
2007

/s/ Winston W. Walker

Winston W. Walker

Director February 2,
2007

/s/ Michael J. Henneman

Michael J. Henneman

Director February 2,
2007
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of American Campus Communities, Inc. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-114813)
of American Campus Communities, Inc.

3.2 Bylaws of American Campus Communities, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-114813) of American Campus
Communities, Inc.

4.1 Form of Certificate for Common Stock of American Campus Communities, Inc. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-114813)
of American Campus Communities, Inc.

5.1 Opinion of Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP as to the legality of the securities being registered.

8.1 Opinion of Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP as to certain tax matters.

10.1 Form of Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of American Campus Communities
Operating Partnership LP. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-114813) of American Campus Communities, Inc.

10.2 Form of First Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of American
Campus Communities Operating Partnership LP, dated as of March 1, 2006, between American
Campus Communities Holdings LLC and those persons who have executed such amendment as
limited partners. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-32265) of American Campus Communities, Inc. filed on March 7, 2006.

10.3 Form of Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2006, between American
Campus Communities, Inc. and each of the persons who are signatory thereto. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32265) of American
Campus Communities, Inc. filed on March 7, 2006.

10.4 Form of Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2006, among American Campus Communities
Operating Partnership LP, American Campus Communities, Inc., American Campus Communities
Holdings LLC and each of the limited partners of the Operating Partnership who have executed a
signature page thereto. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-32265) of American Campus Communities, Inc. filed on March 7, 2006.

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

23.2 Consent of Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1 hereto).

23.3 Consent of Locke Liddell & Sapp LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1 hereto).

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
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Research and development

56,968

52,038

48,523

41,649

40,800

General and administrative

19,552

12,410

13,077

10,233

12,004

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES INC - Form S-3

Table of Contents 55



76,520

64,448

61,600

51,882

52,804

Loss from operations

(43,047

)

(47,922

)

(56,867

)

(40,827

)

(37,016

)

Loss on disposal/sale of property and equipment

�

�
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(30

)

(169

)

�

Interest income

5,700

2,942

966

374

856

Interest expense

(290

)

(276

)

(324

)

(575
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)

(870

)

Net loss

(37,637

)

(45,256

)

(56,255

)

(41,197

)

(37,030

)

Loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

(1.51

)

$

(2.07

)

$

(3.12

)

$

(3.62
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)

$

(7.41

)

Weighted average common shares used in computing loss per common share, basic and diluted

24,936

21,857

18,053

11,395

4,995
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As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and
available-for-sale securities $ 104,471 $ 138,196 $ 71,427 $ 46,500 $ 27,291
Working capital 96,776 118,949 62,821 41,907 22,493
Total assets 113,240 147,668 78,822 55,524 44,342
Capital lease obligations, less current
portion 1,082 1,132 781 1,236 2,313
Deferred stock compensation � (26 ) (56 ) (200 ) (772 )
Accumulated deficit (295,159 ) (257,522 ) (212,266 ) (156,011 ) (114,814 )
Total stockholders� equity 87,229 108,588 52,301 39,973 25,441

The share numbers set forth in the table reflect a one-for-nine reverse split of shares of our outstanding common stock effected on June 24, 2003.
See Notes to the Financial Statements for description of the number of shares used in the computation of basic and diluted loss per common
share.

Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Rigel is a clinical stage drug development company that discovers and develops novel, small-molecule drugs for the treatment of inflammatory
diseases, cancer and viral diseases. Our goal is to file one new investigative new drug (IND) application in a significant indication each year. We
have achieved this goal each year since 2002. Our pioneering research focuses on intracellular signaling pathways and related targets that are
critical to disease mechanisms. Rigel�s productivity has resulted in strategic collaborations with large pharmaceutical partners to develop and
market our product candidates. We have product development programs in inflammatory/autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis,
thrombocytopenia, and asthma and allergy, as well as in cancer.

Rigel has multiple product candidates in development as follows:

•  R788�Product Candidate for Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA). R788 is our lead product candidate. It has a novel
mechanism of action-blocking IgG receptor signaling in macrophages and B-cells. Previously, we studied R788 in a
Phase 1 single center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial evaluating the safety and pharmacokinetics
of escalating single and multiple doses of R788. We completed R788 studies to evaluate its safety and
pharmacokinetics in combination with methotrexate, a commonly prescribed treatment for RA. Results of this trial
suggest no adverse interaction. In September 2006, we commenced a Phase 2, multicenter, ascending dose,
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose ranging study to evaluate up to three doses of R788 in RA patients
failing to respond to methotrexate. We expect to receive results from the study in the second half of 2007.

•  R788�Product Candidate for Immune Thombocytopenic Purpura (ITP). Platelet destruction from ITP is mediated
by IgG signaling. R788 is a potent inhibitor of IgG signaling. In preclinical studies, R788 was shown to improve
thrombocytopenia in an ITP mouse model. We commenced Phase 2 clinical trials of R788 to evaluate its safety and
efficacy in refractory ITP patients in January 2007 and expect to receive results from the study in the middle of 2007.

•  R788�Product Candidate for B-Cell Lymphoma. Research has shown that Syk overactivity is an essential
mechanism in several types of B-cell lymphoma survival and that R788 inhibits the growth
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of B-cell lymphoma driven by Syk overactivity. We filed an IND for this indication in December 2006 and plan to begin a clinical trial by the
first half of 2007.

•  R763�Product Candidate for Oncology.  R763 is a potent, highly-selective, small-molecule inhibitor of Aurora
kinase targeting cancer cell proliferation. In October 2005, we signed a licensing agreement with Merck Serono that
grants to Merck Serono an exclusive license to develop and commercialize inhibitors in our Aurora kinase program,
including R763. Under the agreement, we were responsible for filing an IND for R763, which we filed with the Food
and Drug Administration, or FDA, in December 2005, and were allowed to proceed under the IND in January 2006.
Merck Serono is responsible for the further development and commercialization of R763. During February 2006, we
received a payment of $5.0 million from Merck Serono triggered by the regulatory acceptance. In September 2006, we
received a payment of $3.0 million from Merck Serono triggered by Merck Serono�s initiation of a Phase 1 trial for
R763. This initial trial is a multicenter study on patients with refractory solid tumors. In February 2007, Merck Serono
began an additional Phase 1 trial evaluating R763 in hematological malignancies.

In 2005, we announced that we entered into a collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer for the development of inhaled products
for the treatment of allergic asthma and other respiratory diseases, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, or COPD. The collaboration is
focused on our preclinical small molecule compounds, which inhibit IgE receptor signaling in respiratory tract mast cells by blocking the
signaling enzyme Syk, a novel drug target for respiratory diseases. Mast cells play important roles in both early and late phase allergic reactions,
and Syk inhibitors could prevent both phases. In May 2006, we achieved the first collaboration milestone when Pfizer nominated R343 to
commence advanced preclinical development in allergic asthma. Pfizer paid us $5.0 million for the exclusive right to R343, which is expected to
be delivered using Pfizer�s dry powder inhaler and is expected to enter the clinic in 2007.

In October 2006, we announced that we selected R348, an orally-available, potent and selective inhibitor of JAK3 to enter preclinical studies to
support an IND application planned for 2007. We are also studying Axl inhibition in oncology. In addition to the aforementioned product
candidates, we have ongoing research programs involving back-up candidates for the product candidates above and drug discovery efforts in our
immunology/inflammation, virology and oncology programs.

Corporate Collaborations

We carry on research and development programs in connection with our corporate collaborations. As of December 31, 2006, we had
collaborations with six major pharmaceutical/biotech companies comprised of: one with Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., a division of Johnson &
Johnson, relating to oncology therapeutics and diagnostics, two with Pfizer Inc., one initiated in 1999 and the other in 2005, relating to
intrapulmonary asthma and allergy therapeutics, one with Novartis Pharma AG with respect to four different programs relating to immunology,
oncology and chronic bronchitis, one with Daiichi Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. in the area of oncology, one with Merck, in the area of oncology,
and one with Merck Serono in the area of oncology. All of these collaborations, excluding the recent Pfizer and the Merck Serono
collaborations, have a research phase during which we receive or received funding based on the level of headcount allocated to a program. In all
of these collaborations, if certain conditions are met, we are entitled to receive future milestone payments and royalties. We cannot guarantee
that these conditions will be met or that research and development efforts will be successful. As a result, we may not receive any further
milestone payments or royalties under these agreements. Only the Merck program currently provides for regular research reimbursement
payments.

We are exploring new opportunities with existing and potential collaborators. Our earliest partnerships focused on the early stages of drug
discovery, specifically on target discovery and validation.
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Our collaborations with Daiichi and recently with Merck are both later stage, focusing on drug discovery and development. Our 2005
collaboration with Pfizer covers a compound that Pfizer selected for advanced preclinical development in May 2006, while our 2005
collaboration with Merck Serono covers a compound that began clinical trials in September 2006. We currently anticipate that in order to
support our current research programs, we will need to self-fund our own research programs, which involves an increased rate of spending on
later stages of development prior to partnering with collaborative partners. Therefore, it is expected that future collaborations may have an
expanded focus and could include high throughput screening, combinatorial and medicinal chemistry, preclinical evaluations and/or clinical
development of compounds we have discovered. In addition, we believe these future collaborations could be structured to consist of upfront
payments, the purchase of our common stock, milestone payments upon meeting certain conditions, research or development reimbursement
payments and/or royalties upon commercialization of products resulting from the collaboration.

Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
We evaluate our estimates, including those related to terms of the research collaborations (i.e., amortization of upfront fees and certain
milestones), investments, stock compensation, impairment issues, the estimated useful life of assets and contingencies, on an on-going basis. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting
policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

In addition, we believe that there have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies during the period ended December 31,
2006 as compared to those previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, except for the
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123(R), �Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004),� or SFAS 123(R), for
equity-based compensation costs in January 2006.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from our contract arrangements. Our revenue arrangements with multiple elements are evaluated under Emerging Issues
Task Force No. 00-21, �Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,� and are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria
are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of
the fair value of the undelivered items. The consideration we receive is allocated among the separate units based on their respective fair values,
and the applicable revenue recognition criteria is applied to each of the separate units. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned
are classified as deferred revenue until earned.

Non-refundable, up-front payments received in connection with research and development collaboration agreements, including technology
access fees, are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the relevant periods of continuing involvement, generally the research term.
When a research term is not specified, we estimate the time it will take us to complete our deliverables under the contract and recognize the
upfront fee using the straight-line method over that time period. We review our estimates every quarter for reasonableness.
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Revenue related to collaborative research with our corporate collaborators is recognized as research services are performed over the related
development funding periods for each contract. Under these agreements, we are required to perform research and development activities as
specified in the applicable agreement. The payments received are not refundable and are generally based on a contractual cost per full-time
equivalent employee working on the project. Research and development expenses under the collaborative research agreements, except for the
Merck collaboration signed in November 2004 related to ubiquitin ligases, approximate or exceed the revenue recognized under such
agreements over the term of the respective agreements. For the Merck collaboration, we are recognizing a pro-rata portion of the invoiced
amounts for funding of our research scientists based on the headcount dedicated to the project. It is our policy to recognize revenue based on our
level of effort expended and that revenue recognized will not exceed amounts billable under the arrangement.

Revenue associated with at-risk milestones pursuant to collaborative agreements is recognized based upon the achievement of the milestones as
set forth in the applicable agreement.

Royalties will be recognized as earned in accordance with the contract terms when the third party results are reliably measurable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Stock-based Compensation

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation (recovery)/ expense
from:
Officer, director and employee options $ 12,312 $ 31 $ 236 $ 12,281 $ (205 )
Consultant options 267 (232 ) 430 499 (662 )
Re-priced options � (1,889 ) 1,900 1,889 (3,789 )
Total $ 12,579 $ (2,090 ) $ 2,566 $ 14,669 $ (4,656 )

We grant options to purchase our common stock to our officers, directors and all other employees and consultants under our stock option plans.
Eligible employees can also purchase shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value on the
first day of the offering period or 85% of the fair market value on the purchase date under our employee stock purchase plan, or ESPP. The
benefits provided under these plans are share-based payments subject to the provisions of SFAS 123(R). Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted
the provisions of SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective application transition method. Under this method, the share-based compensation
cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments granted prior to, but not vested as of
January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, �Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,� or SFAS 123, and calculated for pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation�Transition and Disclosure,� or SFAS 148, and (ii) all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the
grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R) and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, or SAB 107.
Compensation cost under SFAS 123(R) for awards granted prior to January 1, 2006 is recognized using an accelerated method pursuant to the
FASB Interpretation No. 28, �Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans,� or FIN 28. For awards
granted after January 1, 2006, we have adopted the use of the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period for the entire
award. Results of prior periods do not reflect any restated amounts, and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle was
insignificant upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) under the modified prospective method. In addition pursuant to SFAS 123(R), we are required
to estimate the amount of
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expected forfeitures when calculating compensation costs, instead of accounting for forfeitures as incurred, which was our previous method. We
will record actual forfeitures as they occur, and we will review our forfeiture rates each quarter and make any necessary changes to our
estimates.

Prior to adopting SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, we accounted for equity-based employee compensation costs under the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,� or APB 25. Under APB 25,
the intrinsic value method of accounting, no compensation expense is recognized, because the exercise price of our employee stock options
equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Pro forma information regarding net loss and net loss per share was
determined as if we had accounted for issuances under our stock option plans and ESPP under the fair value method prescribed by SFAS 123, as
amended by SFAS 148. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

In 2005, we recorded charges associated with the stock options that were eligible for re-pricing under a tender offer initiated in June 2003. All
replacement options, as well as the eligible options that were not surrendered under the original offer to exchange, were treated for financial
reporting purposes as variable awards. Therefore, for the period prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), we recorded non-cash charges, generally for
the intrinsic value of the options as they vested, utilizing the accelerated vesting method, reflecting increases and decreases (down to, but not
below, the exercise price) in the price of our common stock as compensation expense (recovery) in connection with the replacement options and
the eligible options that were not exchanged. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded non-cash compensation recovery of
approximately $1.9 million related to all options eligible for the replacement. The recovery resulted from the decrease in the market price of our
common stock during 2005. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of $1.9 million related to all
options eligible for the replacement. The expense was attributable to the increase in the market price of our common stock during 2004. For
periods after the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we continued to account for these repriced options in accordance with provisions of SFAS 123. In
August 2006, our board of directors granted new options to employees, non-employee directors and consultants who held repriced options that
had expired in August 2006. We granted options to purchase approximately 179,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $9.56 per
share. The options vested 50% at the date of the grant and the remaining 50% will vest monthly over two years. We recorded stock-based
compensation expense of approximately $689,000 relating to these newly granted options for the year ended December 31, 2006.

We also record charges associated with options granted to consultants reflecting the fair value valuation and periodic fair value remeasurement
of outstanding consultant options under Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-18, �Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services,� or EITF 96-18. The valuation is based upon the current market
value of our common stock and other assumptions, including the expected future volatility of our stock price, risk-free interest rate and expected
term. For consultant options granted in 2006, we amortize stock-based compensation using a straight-line attribution method consistent with the
method used for employees and with the attribution election we made upon adoption of SFAS 123(R). For options granted prior to January 1,
2006, we use the accelerated method for expensing stock-based compensation, which was the method we used prior to adoption. We expect to
see continued fluctuations in the future as a portion of these options are remeasured based on the changes in the current market price of our
common stock.

The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock
price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, our
expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate
and expected dividends. If factors change and we employ different assumptions in the
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application of SFAS 123(R) in future periods, the compensation expense that we record under SFAS 123(R) may differ significantly from what
we have recorded in the current period. Therefore, we believe it is important to be aware of the high degree of subjectivity involved when using
option pricing models to estimate share-based compensation under SFAS 123(R). The guidance in and application of SFAS 123(R) and the
Securities and Exchange Commission�s Staff Accounting Bulleting No. 107, or SAB 107, may be subject to further interpretation and refinement
over time. There are significant differences among valuation models, and there is a possibility that we may adopt different valuation models in
the future. This may result in a lack of consistency in future periods and materially affect the fair value estimate of share-based payments. It may
also result in a lack of comparability with other companies that use different models, methods and assumptions.

Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Revenues

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Contract revenues from collaborations $ 33,473 $ 16,526 $ 4,733 $ 16,947 $ 11,793

Revenues by collaborator were:

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Merck Serono $ 15,527 $ 2,473 $ � $ 13,054 $ 2,473
Pfizer 10,000 4,241 � 5,759 4,241
Merck 7,946 7,369 438 577 6,931
Daiichi � 2,443 2,629 (2,443 ) (186 )
Novartis � � 1,666 � (1,666 )
Total $ 33,473 $ 16,526 $ 4,733 $ 16,947 $ 11,793

Contract revenues from collaborations in 2006 and 2005 consisted primarily of amortization of upfront fees, milestone payments and research
support from the continuation of our current collaborations. Contract revenues from collaborations in 2004 consisted primarily of amortization
of upfront fees and research support. The increase in revenues in 2006, as compared to the similar period in 2005, was primarily due to the
recognition of the Merck Serono milestone payments totaling $8.0 million, the full amortization of the Merck Serono upfront payment of $7.5
million and the recognition of the Pfizer milestone payment of $5.0 million offset by the termination of the Daiichi collaboration in 2005. The
increase in revenues in 2005, as compared to the similar period in 2004, was primarily due to a full year of Merck collaboration and the initiation
of the Pfizer and Merck Serono collaborations offset by the termination of the research phase of the Novartis oncology program in 2004. We
have deferred a total of approximately $994,000 of research reimbursement revenue from Merck in order to account for the headcount effort
expended by us for the time period invoiced, which covers the relevant periods from the initiation of the collaboration in 2004 through
December 31, 2006. We expect contract revenues from collaborations to continue to be a significant component of our total revenues for the
foreseeable future.
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Research and Development

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Research and development expenses $ 56,968 $ 52,038 $ 48,523 $ 4,930 $ 3,515
Stock-based compensation expense/(recovery)
included in research and development
expenses 6,515 (1,467 ) 2,000 7,982 (3,467 )

The increase in research and development expenses in 2006, as compared to the similar period in 2005, was primarily attributable to an increase
in stock-based compensation expense upon the adoption of SFAS 123(R) as previously discussed under �Critical Accounting Policies and the Use
of Estimates - Stock-based Compensation,� offset by a decrease in preclinical and clinical costs. The decrease in our preclinical and clinical costs
in 2006, as compared to the similar period in 2005, was primarily due to the termination of the R112 and R803 programs in 2005 and the transfer
of sponsorship relating to R763 to Merck Serono in 2006, offset by increased costs relating to our R788 program, which initiated a Phase 2 trial
in August 2006. The increase in research and development expenses in 2005, as compared to the similar period in 2004, was due to the increase
in our preclinical and clinical costs and personnel costs offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense related to the repriced stock
options as discussed under �Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates�Stock-based Compensation.�  The increase in preclinical and
clinical costs and personnel costs in 2005, as compared to the similar period in 2004, was primarily due to costs associated with our R112, R788
and R763 programs, offset by the decrease in costs associated with our R803 program, which was discontinued in July 2005. We expect that our
research and development expenses will increase as we continue our Phase 2 trials of R788 in RA and ITP, commence our Phase 1 trial of R788
in lymphoma and continue to work on programs for other indications.

The scope and magnitude of future research and development expenses are difficult to predict at this time given the number of studies that will
need to be conducted for any of our potential products, as well as our limited capital resources. In general, biopharmaceutical-development
involves a series of steps�beginning with identification of a potential target and including, among others, proof of concept in animals and Phase
1, 2 and 3 clinical studies in humans�each of which is typically more expensive than the previous step. Success in development therefore results
in increasing expenditures. Our research and development expenditures currently include costs for scientific personnel, supplies, equipment,
consultants, sponsored research, allocated facility costs, costs related to preclinical and clinical trials, and stock-based compensation.

General and Administrative Expenses

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

General and administrative expenses $ 19,552 $ 12,410 $ 13,077 $ 7,142 $ (667 )
Stock-based compensation expense/(recovery)
included in general and administrative
expenses 6,064 (623 ) 566 6,687 (1,189 )

The increase in general and administrative expenses in 2006, as compared to the similar period in 2005, was primarily due to an increase in
stock-based compensation expense upon the adoption of SFAS 123(R) as discussed under �Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of
Estimates�Stock-based Compensation� and increased personnel and facility costs. The decrease in administrative expenses in 2005, as compared
to the similar period in 2004, was primarily due to the decrease in stock-based compensation expense related to the repriced stock options as
discussed under �Critical Accounting
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Policies and the Use of Estimates - Stock-Based Compensation,� offset by increased personnel and facility costs.

Loss on Disposal/Sale of Property and Equipment

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Loss on disposal /sale of property and equipment $ � $ � $ 30 $ � $ (30 )

During 2004, we wrote-off $4,900,000 of assets at their original acquisition cost and related accumulated depreciation of $4,870,000 for assets
that were no longer in use. We recorded a loss on disposal of property and equipment of $30,000.

Interest income

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Interest income $ 5,700 $ 2,942 $ 966 $ 2,758 $ 1,976

Interest income results from our interest-bearing cash and investment balances. The increases in interest income in 2006, as compared to the
similar periods in 2005 and 2004,  were primarily due to the increase in our investment balances as a result of the public offering we completed
in July 2005 where we raised $81.6 million in net proceeds combined with an increase in the interest rates we earned on these balances.

Interest expense

Years Ended December 31, Aggregate Change
2006 2005 2004 2006 from 2005 2005 from 2004
(in thousands)

Interest expense $ (290 ) $ (276 ) $ (324 ) $ (14 ) $ 48

Interest expense is the result of our capital lease obligations associated with fixed asset acquisitions. Interest expense was flat in 2006, 2005 and
2004 due to comparable debt obligations outstanding during those years.

Future Accounting Requirements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,� or FIN 48. This interpretation requires that we recognize in
our financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being sustained in an audit, based on the technical
merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, with the cumulative effect of
the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 48 on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC released SAB 108, �Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements,� or SAB 108. SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on the SEC�s views regarding the process of
quantifying materiality of financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. We adopted
SAB 108 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, �Fair Value Measurements,� or SFAS 157. This standard defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted
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accounting priniciples, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Requirements

We have financed our operations from inception primarily through sales of equity securities, contract payments payable to us under our
collaboration agreements and equipment financing arrangements. We have consumed substantial amounts of capital to date, and operating
expenditures are expected to increase over the next several years. During 2006, we received payments of approximately $18.2 million from our
collaborations with Merck Serono, Pfizer and Merck.

We believe that our existing capital resources and anticipated proceeds from current collaborations will be sufficient to support our current
operating plan through at least the next 12 months. Our operations will require significant additional funding, in large part due to our research
and development expenses, future preclinical and clinical testing costs and the absence of any meaningful revenues for the foreseeable future.
The amount of future funds needed will depend largely on the timing and structure of potential future collaborations. We do not know whether
additional financing will be available when needed, or that, if available, we will obtain financing on terms favorable to our stockholders or us.

To the extent we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders could at that time experience substantial dilution. To the
extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, we may be required to relinquish some rights to our
technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many uncertain factors.

Our future funding requirements will depend upon many factors, including, but not limited to:

•  the progress and success of clinical trials and preclinical activities (including studies and manufacture of
materials) of our product candidates conducted by us or our collaborative partners or licensees;

•  our ability to establish new collaborations and to maintain our existing collaboration partnerships;

•  the progress of research programs carried out by us;

•  any changes in the breadth of our research and development programs;

•  our ability to meet the milestones identified in our collaborative agreements that trigger payments;

•  the progress of the research and development efforts of our collaborative partners;

•  our ability to acquire or license other technologies or compounds that we seek to pursue;

•  our ability to manage our growth;

•  competing technological and market developments;

•  the costs and timing of obtaining, enforcing and defending our patent and intellectual rights;

•  the costs and timing of regulatory approvals and filings by us and our collaborators; and

•  expenses associated with unforeseen litigation.
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Insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of our research or development programs, to lose rights under
existing licenses or to relinquish greater or all rights to product candidates at an earlier stage of development or on less favorable terms than we
would otherwise choose or may adversely affect our ability to operate as a going concern.
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As of December 31, 2006, we had $104.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities, as compared to $138.2 million
as of December 31, 2005, a decrease of $33.7 million. The decrease was primarily attributable to operating spending in the period, offset by
collaboration proceeds of $18.2 million. We also received approximately $2.8 million from the issuance of our common stock resulting from our
stock option plans and ESPP and approximately $1.4 million under our equipment financing arrangements. For the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, we maintained an investment portfolio primarily in money market funds, federal agency securities, and corporate bonds and
notes. Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested with regard to liquidity and capital preservation. Wherever possible, we seek to
minimize the potential effects of concentration and degrees of risk.

Contractual Obligations

The following are our contractual commitments (by fiscal year) as of December 31, 2006 associated with debt obligations, contracted research
obligations, and lease obligations: (in thousands)

Total
Less than
1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years

More than 5
years

(in thousands)
Debt obligations (1) $ 2,617 $ 1,454 $ 1,160 $ 3 $ �
Contracted research � � � � �
Facilities lease, net of sublease (2)(3) 159,777 8,475 44,987 44,001 62,314
Total $ 162,394 $ 9,929 $ 46,147 $ 44,004 $ 62,314

1)  As of December 31, 2006, we had $2.4 million in debt obligations associated with our equipment additions.
All existing debt agreements as of December 31, 2006 are secured by the equipment financed, bear interest at rates in
a range of 9% to 12.2% and are due in monthly installments through 2010.

2)  During May 2004, we initiated a sublease of approximately 15,000 square feet of our premises to a tenant for
a period of two years. The sublease was amended in September 2005 to extend term for an additional year. The
facilities lease obligations above are reflective of the sublease income stream of approximately $276,000.

3)  The payments above also reflect the remaining twelve years of the lease term.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the income we receive from our
investments without significantly increasing risk. Some of the securities in which we invest may have market risk. This means that a change in
prevailing interest rates may cause the fair value amount of the investment to fluctuate. For example, if we hold a security that was issued with a
fixed interest rate at the then-prevailing rate and the prevailing interest rate later rises, the market value amount of our investment will decline.
To minimize this risk in the future, we intend to maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities in a variety of
securities, including money market funds and government and non-government debt securities. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, we maintained an
investment portfolio primarily in money market funds, federal agency securities, and corporate bonds and notes. Due to the primarily short-term
nature of these investments, we believe we do not have a material exposure to interest rate risk arising from our investments. Therefore, no
quantitative tabular disclosure is provided.

We have operated primarily in the United States, and all funding activities with our collaborators to date have been made in U.S. dollars.
Accordingly, we have not had any exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related statements
of operations, stockholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rigel
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. changed its method of accounting for share-based compensation
in 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 6, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California
March 6, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited management�s assessment, included in the accompanying �Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting�,
that Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Rigel Pharmaceutical, Inc.�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management�s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management�s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management�s assessment that Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the balance sheets
of Rigel Pharmaceutical, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related statements of operations, stockholders� equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated March 6, 2007 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California
March 6, 2007
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 47,727 $ 76,779
Available-for-sale securities 56,744 61,417
Accounts receivable 1,104 1,050
Other receivables 286 777
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,153 2,573
Total current assets 108,014 142,596
Property and equipment, net 2,975 3,457
Other assets 2,251 1,615

$ 113,240 $ 147,668
Liabilities and stockholders� equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,957 $ 2,497
Accrued compensation 3,060 2,189
Other accrued liabilities 1,886 2,324
Deferred revenue 3,066 15,567
Capital lease obligations 1,269 1,070
Total current liabilities 11,238 23,647
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 1,082 1,132
Long-term portion of deferred revenue � 2,771
Long-term portion of deferred rent 13,328 11,121
Other long-term liabilities 363 409
Commitments
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 25,180,687 and
24,814,671 shares issued and outstanding on December 31, 2006 and December 31,
2005, respectively 25 25
Additional paid-in capital 382,350 366,203
Deferred stock compensation � (26 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) 13 (92 )
Accumulated deficit (295,159 ) (257,522 )
Total stockholders� equity 87,229 108,588

$ 113,240 $ 147,668

See accompanying notes
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Contract revenues from collaborations $ 33,473 $ 16,526 $ 4,733
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 56,968 52,038 48,523
General and administrative 19,552 12,410 13,077

76,520 64,448 61,600
Loss from operations (43,047 ) (47,922 ) (56,867 )
Loss on disposal/sale of property and equipment � � (30 )
Interest income 5,700 2,942 966
Interest expense (290 ) (276 ) (324 )
Net loss $ (37,637 ) $ (45,256 ) $ (56,255 )
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (1.51 ) $ (2.07 ) $ (3.12 )
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per common share, basic and
diluted 24,936 21,857 18,053

See accompanying notes.
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
(In thousands, except per share and per share amounts)

Accumulated
Additional Deferred Other Total

Common Stock Paid-in Stock ComprehensiveAccumulated Treasury Stockholders�
Shares Amount Capital CompensationIncome (Loss) Deficit Stock Equity

Balance at December 31, 2003 14,828,546 $ 15 $ 196,215 $ (200 ) $ (13 ) $ (156,011 ) $ (33 ) $ 39,973
Net loss � � � � � (56,255 ) � (56,255 )
Change in unrealized loss on
available-for-sale securities (207 ) (207 )
Comprehensive loss (56,462 )
Issuance of common stock at
$20.00 per share for cash, net
of issuance costs 3,135,075 3 58,338 � � � � 58,341
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of options and
participation in Purchase Plan 227,892 � 1,884 � � � � 1,884
Issuance of common stock
upon cash exercise of warrants
at $5.76 1,041,666 1 6,000 � � � � 6,001
Issuance of common stock
upon net exercise of warrants
at $5.76 415,687 1 � � � � � 1
Issuance of common stock
upon net exercise of warrants 12,429 � � � � � � �
Grant of treasury stock to
employees � � 39 � � � 33 72
Compensation expense related
to options granted to
consultants, repriced options,
and an option modification � � 2,289 75 � � � 2,364
Deferred stock compensation
related to option modification � � 58 (58 ) � � � �
Amortization of deferred stock
compensation, � � � 127 � � � 127
Balance at December 31, 2004 19,661,295 20 264,823 (56 ) (220 ) (212,266 ) � 52,301
Net loss � � � � � (45,256 ) � (45,256 )
Change in unrealized loss on
available-for-sale securities � � � � 128 � � 128
Comprehensive loss (45,128 )
Issuance of common stock at
$20.75 per share for cash, net
of issuance costs 4,197,500 4 81,586 � � � � 81,590
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of options,
participation in Purchase Plan
and net exercise of a warrant 219,164 � 1,915 � � � � 1,915
Issuance of common stock at
$27.47 per share to Merck
Serono 546,018 1 14,999 � � � � 15,000
Issuance of common stock at
$26.22 per share to Pfizer 190,694 � 5,000 � � � � 5,000
Compensation expense related
to
options granted to consultants,
repriced options, and an option
modification � � (2,120 ) � � � (2,120 )
Amortization of deferred stock
compensation, � � � 30 � � � 30
Balance at December 31, 2005 24,814,671 25 366,203 (26 ) (92 ) (257,522 ) � 108,588
Net loss � � � � � (37,637 ) � (37,637 )
Change in unrealized loss on
available-for-sale securities � � � � 105 � � 105
Comprehensive loss (37,532 )
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of options and

366,016 � 2,793 � � � 2,793
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participation in Purchase Plan
Stock compensation expense
related to options granted to
consultants, officers, directors
and employees � � 11,298 � � � 11,298
Stock compensation expenses
related to ESPP � � 1,281 � � � 1,281
Reversal of deferred
compensation balance due to
adoption of SFAS 123 (R) � � (26 ) 26 � � �
Warrants issued with lease
amendment � � 801 � � � 801
Balance at December 31, 2006 25,180,687 $ 25 $ 382,350 $ � $ 13 $ (295,159 ) $ � $ 87,229

See accompanying notes.
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Operating activities
Net loss $ (37,637 ) $ (45,256 ) $ (56,255 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,418 1,150 2,246
Amortization of deferred stock compensation, net � 30 127
Non-cash stock compensation expense (recovery) 12,579 (2,120 ) 2,367
Issuances of equity instruments for noncash benefits � � 72
Loss on disposal/sale of property and equipment � � 30
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (54 ) (1,050 ) 500
Other receivables 491 (78 ) 88
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 420 (460 ) 61
Other assets 165 155 249
Accounts payable (540 ) 552 567
Accrued compensation 871 550 928
Other accrued liabilities (438 ) 769 91
Deferred revenue (15,272 ) 10,430 5,120
Deferred rent and other long term liabilities 2,161 158 5,657
Net cash used in operating activities (35,836 ) (35,170 ) (38,152 )
Investing activities
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (85,209 ) (89,584 ) (96,436 )
Maturities of available-for-sale securities 89,987 89,227 72,176
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 83 � �
Capital expenditures (913 ) (1,794 ) (1,545 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 3,948 (2,151 ) (25,805 )
Financing activities
Proceeds from capital lease financing 1,449 1,656 831
Payments on capital lease obligations (1,406 ) (1,556 ) (2,224 )
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock and warrants 2,793 103,505 66,224
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,836 103,605 64,831
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (29,052 ) 66,284 874
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 76,779 10,495 9,621
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 47,727 $ 76,779 $ 10,495
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid $ 247 $ 210 $ 324
Schedule of non cash transactions
Deferred stock compensation $ � $ � $ 58
Issuance of warrants with lease amendment $ 801 $ � $ �

See accompanying notes.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In this annual report on Form 10-K, �Rigel,� �we,� �us� and �our� refer to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. �common stock� refers to Rigel�s common stock, par
value $0.001 per share.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of operations and basis of presentation

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware on June 14, 1996. We are engaged in the discovery and development of novel, small-molecule
drugs for the treatment of inflammatory diseases, cancer and viral diseases.

Financial Statement Preparation

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

Comprehensive net loss did not differ materially from the net loss as reported.

Stock Award Plans

We have two stock option plans, the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan and 2000 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, that provide for granting
to our officers, directors and all other employees and consultants options to purchase shares of our common stock. Under the plans, we may
issue non-qualified options or incentive stock options. We also have an employee stock purchase plan, or ESPP, where eligible employees can
purchase shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value on the first day of the offering
period or 85% of the fair market value on the purchase date. The benefits provided under these plans are share-based payments subject to the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123(R), �Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004),� or SFAS 123(R), and
guidance under the Securities and Exchange Commission�s Staff Accounting Bulletin 107, or SAB No. 107.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective application transition method. Under this
method, the share-based compensation cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments
granted prior to, but not vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,� or SFAS 123, and calculated for pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 148,
�Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure,� or SFAS 148, and (ii) all share-based payments granted subsequent to
January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). Compensation cost under SFAS
123(R) for awards granted prior to January 1, 2006 is recognized using an accelerated method pursuant to the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 28, �Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans,� or FIN 28.
For awards granted after January 1, 2006, we have adopted the use of the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period for the
entire award. Results of prior periods do not reflect any restated amounts, and we had no cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R) under the modified prospective method.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impact of the Adoption of SFAS 123(R)

Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of the Company�s share-based awards that we recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was comprised as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Research and development $ 6,515 $ (1,467 ) $ 2,000
General and administrative 6,064 (623 ) 566
Stock-based compensation expense (recovery) $ 12,579 $ (2,090 ) $ 2,566
Stock-based compensation expense (recovery) per share
Basic and diluted $ 0.50 $ (0.10 ) $ 0.14

We recorded approximately $12.6 million in stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006, consisting of
approximately $12.3 million in stock-based awards granted to officers, directors and all other employees from our stock option plans and ESPP,
and approximately $267,000 from options granted to consultants. Pursuant to SFAS 123(R), we are required to estimate the amount of expected
forfeitures when calculating compensation costs, instead of accounting for forfeitures as incurred, which was our previous method. Our
estimated annual weighted average forfeiture rate was 7.9% as of December 31, 2006. We adjust our stock-based compensation expense as
actual forfeitures occur, review our estimated forfeiture rates each quarter and make changes to our estimate as appropriate.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $267,000, associated with options
granted to consultants, reflecting the fair value and periodic fair value remeasurement of outstanding consultant options under Emerging Issues
Task Force No. 96-18, �Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with
Selling Goods or Services,� or EITF 96-18.  The valuation is based upon the current market value of our common stock and other assumptions,
including the expected future volatility of our stock price, risk-free interest rate and expected term. For consultant options granted in 2006, we
amortized stock-based compensation using a straight-line attribution method consistent with the method used for employees and with the
attribution election we made upon adoption of SFAS 123(R). For options granted prior to January 1, 2006, we used the accelerated method for
expensing stock-based compensation, which was the method we used prior to adoption. We recorded stock-based compensation recovery of
approximately $232,000 and stock-based compensation expense of approximately $430,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, relating to consultant options. We expect to see continued fluctuations in the future as a portion of these options are remeasured
based on the changes in the current market price of our common stock.

In 2005, we recorded charges associated with the stock options that were eligible for re-pricing under a tender offer initiated in June 2003. All
replacement options, as well as the eligible options that were not surrendered under the original offer to exchange, were treated for financial
reporting purposes as variable awards. Therefore, for the period prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), we recorded non-cash charges, generally for
the intrinsic value of the options, in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,�
or APB 25, utilizing the accelerated vesting method, reflecting increases and decreases (down to, but not below, the exercise price) in the price
of our common
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

stock as compensation expense (recovery) in connection with the replacement options and the eligible options that were not exchanged. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a non-cash compensation recovery of approximately $1.9 million related to all employee options
eligible for replacement. The recovery resulted from the decrease in the market price of our common stock during 2005. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of approximately $1.9 million related to all employee options eligible for
replacement. The amount recorded was attributable to the increases in the market price of our common stock during 2004. For periods after the
adoption of SFAS 123(R), we continue to account for the vested portion of the repriced options in  accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123.
In August 2006, our board of directors granted new options to officers, directors and all other employees and consultants who held these repriced
options that expired in August 2006. We granted approximately 179,000 options with an exercise price of $9.56 per share. The options vested
50% at the date of the grant and the remaining 50% will vest monthly over two years. We recorded stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $689,000, in accordance with SFAS 123(R), relating to these new options for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Under SFAS 123(R), the fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. We
have segregated option awards into three homogenous groups (i.e., Officers and Directors, All Other Employees and Consultants) for purposes
of determining fair values of options.

We determined weighted-average valuation assumptions separately for the groups as follows:

•  Volatility -  We estimated volatility using the historical share price performance over the expected life of the
option up to the point where we have historical market data. As our publicly listed options are not actively traded,
implied volatility was not representative of our current volatility. We also considered other factors such as our current
clinical trials and other company activities that may affect volatility of our stock in the future but determined that at
this time, the historical volatility was more indicative of our expected future stock performance.

•  Expected term - We worked with various data points to determine the most applicable expected term for
each option group. The data points included: (1) expected term of the options from option grant date to exercise date;
(2) cancellation term of options from grant date to cancellation date and excluding unvested option forfeitures from
the determination; and (3) term of options that remain outstanding from grant date to the end of the reporting period.
The analysis of the above data points gave us a range of expected terms to consider; however, we also considered the
vesting schedules of the options granted and factors surrounding exercise behavior of our groups, our current market
price and company activity that may affect our market price. In addition, we also considered the vesting schedules of
the options, the optionee type (i.e., officers and directors, all other employees and consultants) and other factors that
may affect the expected term of the option. For options granted to consultants, we use the contractual term of the
option, which is generally ten years, for the initial valuation of the option and the remaining contractual term of the
option for the succeeding years.

•  Risk-free interest rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates with
similar terms to the expected term of the options for each option group.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

•  Forfeiture rate - We estimated the forfeiture rate using our historical experience with pre-vesting options.
Our annual weighted-average forfeiture rate was approximately 7.9% as of December 31, 2006. We review our
estimated forfeiture rates each quarter and make changes as factors affecting our forfeiture rate calculations and
assumptions change.

•  Dividend yield - The expected dividend yield is 0% as we have not paid and do not expect to pay dividends.

The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions relating to our employee options for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, as permitted under SFAS 123(R) for 2006 and SFAS 123 for 2005 and 2004:

Stock Option Plans Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Risk-free interest rate 4.7 % 4.2 % 2.6 %
Expected life (in years) 4.4 2.8 3.1
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected volatility 95.6 % 86.8 % 85.0 %

Options are priced at the market price of our common stock on the date of grant, become exercisable at varying dates and generally expire ten
years from the date of grant. At December 31, 2006, options to purchase 1,476,206 shares of common stock were available for grant under our
stock option plans.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The fair value of awards granted under our ESPP is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses the
weighted-average assumptions set forth in the table below. Our ESPP provides for a twenty-four month offering period comprised of four
six-month purchase periods with a look-back option. A look-back option is a provision in our ESPP where eligible employees can purchase
shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value on the first day of the offering period or 85%
of the fair market value on the purchase date. The plan also includes a feature whereby a new offering period begins when the fair market value
of our common stock on a purchase date during an offering falls below the fair market value of our common stock on the first day of such
offering period. Participants are automatically enrolled in the new offering period. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of our
stock. Expected term represents the purchase periods within our offering period. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the
option is based on U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates. Stock-based compensation expense relating to our ESPP is recognized according to the
FASB Technical Bulletin No. 97-1, �Accounting under Statement 123 for Certain Employee Stock Purchase Plans with a Look-back Option,� or
FTB 97-1. As of December 31, 2006, there were approximately 68,000 shares in reserve for future issuance under the ESPP. The following table
summarizes the weighted-average assumptions relating to our ESPP for the years ended Deceember 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
Year Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Risk-free interest rate 4.6 % 4.1 % 3.5 %
Expected life (in years) 1.2 0.5 0.6
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected volatility 109.9 % 88.3 % 85.0 %

Stock-based Compensation Award Activity

The following table summarizes activity under our equity incentive and stock option plans as of December 31, 2006 (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

Shares
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value

(Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 3,893,219 $ 15.98
Granted 1,229,967 $ 8.79
Exercised (206,636 ) $ 7.96
Forfeited/Expired/Cancelled (511,339 ) $ 14.72
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 4,405,211 $ 14.50 7.87 $ 8,653,135
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2006 4,276,208 $ 14.44
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 2,768,121 $ 13.39 7.46 $ 6,569,970
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the quoted price of our
common stock for the options to acquire 2.4 million shares that were in-the-money at December 31, 2006. During the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised under our stock option plans were approximately $470,000, $1.7 million
and $1.9 million, respectively, determined as of the date of option exercise. As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $9.4 million of
total unrecognized compensation cost, net of forfeitures, related to unvested share-based compensation arrangements granted under our stock
option plans and $380,000 of total unamortized compensation cost related to our ESPP. These costs are expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.62 years. We also had approximately 1.6 million of unvested stock options at December 31, 2006. Future option
grants and their valuation will increase our compensation cost in the future as the options are granted, valued and expensed ratably according to
their vesting periods. The weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted in the year ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were
$6.24, $12.42 and $11.12, respectively.

Pro Forma Information under SFAS 123 for Periods Prior to Fiscal 2006

Prior to adopting SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, we accounted for equity-based employee compensation costs under the recognition and
measurement principles of APB 25. Under APB 25, the intrinsic value method of accounting, no compensation expense is recognized, because
the exercise price of our employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Pro forma information
regarding net loss and net loss per share was determined as if we had accounted for issuances under our stock option plans and ESPP under the
fair value method prescribed by SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. See the weighted-average assumptions discussed above.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options was amortized to expense over the vesting period of the options
prior to adopting SFAS 123(R). Our pro forma information is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004

Net loss�as reported: $ (45,256 ) $(56,255 )
Add (Deduct): Total stock-based employee compensation (recovery)/expense determined
under APB 25 (1,859 ) 2,135
Add: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value
based method of all awards 9,401 8,506
Pro forma net loss $ (56,516 ) $ (62,626 )
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
As reported $ (2.07 ) $ (3.12 )
Pro forma (2.59 ) (3.47 )
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities

We consider all highly liquid investments in debt securities with a remaining maturity from the date of purchase of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds, corporate debt securities and government agencies. Our short-term investments
include obligations of governmental agencies and corporate debt securities. By policy, we limit the concentration of credit risk by diversifying
our investments among a variety of high credit-quality issuers.

All other cash equivalents and short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at
fair value at December 31, 2006 and 2005. Unrealized gains (losses) are reported in stockholders� equity and included in other comprehensive
income (loss). Fair value is estimated based on available market information. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification
method. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we did not have any realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities.
See Note 4 for a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation
are carried at cost or amortized cost, which management believes approximates fair value.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements, if any, are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.

Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue from our contract arrangements. Our revenue arrangements with multiple elements are evaluated under Emerging Issues
Task Force No. 00-21, �Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,� and are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria
are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of
the fair value of the undelivered items. The consideration we receive is allocated among the separate units based on their respective fair values,
and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned
are classified as deferred revenue until earned

Non-refundable, up-front payments received in connection with research and development collaboration agreements, including technology
access fees, are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the relevant periods of continuing involvement, generally the research term.
When a research term is not specified, we estimate the time it will take us to complete our deliverables under the contract and recognize the
upfront fee using the straight-line method over that time period. We review our estimates every quarter for reasonableness.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenues related to collaborative research with our corporate collaborators are recognized as research services are performed over the related
development funding periods for each contract. Under these agreements, we are required to perform research and development activities as
specified in each respective agreement. The payments received are not refundable and are generally based on a contractual cost per full-time
equivalent employee working on the project. Research and development expenses under the collaborative research agreements, except for the
Merck collaboration signed in November 2004 related to ubiquitin ligases, approximate or exceed the revenue recognized under such
agreements over the term of the respective agreements. For the Merck collaboration, we are recognizing a pro-rata portion of the invoiced
amounts for funding of our research scientists based on the headcount dedicated to the project. It is our policy to recognize revenue based on our
level of effort expended, however, revenue recognized will not exceed amounts billable under the arrangement which corresponds to cash
receipts.

Revenues associated with at-risk milestones pursuant to collaborative agreements are recognized based upon the achievement of the milestones
as set forth in the applicable agreement.

Royalties will be recognized as earned in accordance with the contract terms when the third party results are reliably measurable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Research and development

Research and development expenses include costs for scientific personnel, supplies, equipment, consultants, research sponsored by us, allocated
facility costs, costs related to pre-clinical and clinical trials, and stock-based compensation expense. All such costs are charged to research and
development expense as incurred. Collaboration agreements generally specify minimum levels of research effort required to be performed by us.

Segment reporting

We operate our business in one reportable segment: the discovery and development of novel, small molecule drugs for the treatment of
inflammatory diseases, cancer and other viral diseases. We primarily operate in the United States.

Contingencies

We are subject to claims related to the patent protection of certain of our technologies. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required, if
any, for these contingencies is made after careful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future due to new
developments in each matter or changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities from a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period the change is enacted. A valuation allowance is established
to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount whose realization is more likely than not.

Net loss per share

Net loss per share has been computed according to Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 128, �Earnings Per Share,� which
requires disclosure of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share excludes any dilutive effects of options, shares subject to
repurchase, warrants and convertible securities. Diluted earnings per share includes the impact of potentially dilutive securities.

During all periods presented, we had securities outstanding, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were
excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share, as their effect would have been antidilutive. These outstanding securities consist of
the following (in thousands, except per share information):

December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Outstanding options 4,405 3,893 2,750
Warrants 175 91 92
Weighted average exercise price of options $14.50 $15.98 $11.94
Weighted average exercise price of warrants $13.23 $28.39 $28.33

Recent accounting pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,� or FIN 48. This interpretation requires that we recognize in
our financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being sustained in an audit, based on the technical
merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, with the cumulative effect of
the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 48 on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC released SAB 108, �Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements,� or SAB 108. SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on the SEC�s views regarding the process of
quantifying materiality of financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. We adopted
SAB 108 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, �Fair Value Measurements,� or SFAS 157. This standard defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting priniciples, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS
157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS 157 on our financial statements.
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2. SPONSORED RESEARCH AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS

Research agreements

In December 1998, we entered into a research collaboration agreement with Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., a division of Johnson and Johnson
Pharmaceutical and Development, LLC to research and identify novel targets for drug discovery. At the time we entered into the contract,
Johnson & Johnson paid a one-time non-refundable, non-creditable fee and provided support for research activities during the research period,
which concluded in December 2003. In addition to these fees, we also received various milestones payments. Johnson & Johnson remains
obligated to pay us various milestones and royalties in the future if certain conditions are met.

In January 1999, we entered into a two-year collaborative research agreement with Pfizer Inc. to discover and develop various molecular targets.
Upon signing of the agreement, Pfizer paid a one-time, nonrefundable, noncreditable fee. Under the terms of the contract, Pfizer provided
support for research for two years. In 2001, Pfizer notified us that it was electing to exercise its option to extend the funded research portion of
the collaboration one additional year to January 31, 2002 and then extended it again for one additional month to February 28, 2002. In
February 2002, the research phase of our collaboration with Pfizer concluded with Pfizer accepting a total of seven validated targets. In
January 2005, we signed a collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer for the development of intrapulmonary products for the
treatment of allergic asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The collaboration is primarily focused on our preclinical small
molecule compounds, which inhibit IgE receptor signaling in respiratory tract mast cells by blocking the signaling enzyme Syk kinase. The goal
of the collaboration is for Pfizer to nominate two of the licensed compounds in order to commence advanced preclinical development with our
assistance. We will earn milestone payments upon the selection of each of the two compounds, as well as in connection with other clinical
events and royalties from sales of the resulting products upon marketing approval. Pfizer is responsible for the manufacture of all preclinical and
clinical materials for each compound/product and all costs associated with development and commercialization. In connection with this
collaboration, Pfizer paid us $10.0 million upfront and purchased $5.0 million of our common stock at a premium. We are amortizing the
upfront amount into revenue over 24 months which we consider to be the overall amount of time it will take Pfizer to nominate two of our
compounds for advanced pre-clinical development. In May 2006, we achieved the first milestone payment when Pfizer nominated R343 to
commence advanced preclinical development in allergic asthma. Pfizer paid us $5.0 million for the exclusive right to R343 and will be
responsible for all development related to R343 going forward.

In May 1999, we entered into a broad collaboration with Novartis Pharma AG, pursuant to which we and Novartis agreed to work on up to five
different research programs to identify various targets for drug development. Two programs were initiated in 1999 while the third program to be
conducted at Novartis was initiated on January 1, 2000. In July 2001, we expanded our collaboration with Novartis with the initiation of our
angiogenesis program, the fourth and final program in our Novartis collaboration as Novartis chose not to exercise its option to add a fifth
project that was to be conducted at Novartis. Pursuant to the expanded Novartis collaboration, we received a $4.0 million up-front payment from
Novartis, which was recognized as revenue ratably through July 2004. We currently have no programs with Novartis in the research phase.
Novartis remains obliged to pay us various milestones and royalties in the future if certain conditions are met.
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In August 2002, we signed an agreement for a collaboration with Daiichi to pursue research related to a specific target from a novel class of drug
targets called ligases that control cancer cell proliferation through protein degradation. Daiichi paid us $0.9 million at the time we entered into
the agreement, three milestone payments totaling $4.6 million, and may become obligated to pay us certain other milestones payments in the
future. The research phase of this three-year collaboration expired in August 2005. In addition, we are entitled to receive royalties on any
commercialized products to emerge from the collaboration. Under terms of the agreement, we retain the rights to co-develop and co-promote
certain products resulting from this collaboration in North America while Daiichi retains co-development and promotion rights in the remainder
of the world.

In November 2004, we entered into a broad collaboration agreement with Merck & Co., Inc. to investigate ubiquitin ligases, a new class of drug
target, to find treatments for cancer and potentially other diseases. At the time we entered into the agreement, we received an initial cash
payment of $7.6 million and funding for our research scientists for two and a half years. We are recognizing the upfront payment ratably over
the two and a half year term of the research agreement. We are recognizing a pro-rata portion of the invoiced amounts for funding of our
research scientists based on the headcount dedicated to the project. The amount deferred is currently anticipated to be recognized as revenue at
the end of the research phase when all of our obligations have been fulfilled under the terms of the contract. As of December 31, 2006, $994,000
remains deferred which represents amounts invoiced to Merck from the initiation of the research term in excess of the required headcount to be
allocated to the project through the balance sheet date. In 2006, we received payments from Merck triggered by their selection of a fourth target
and our achievement of a milestone relating to a target. We are also eligible to receive milestone payments and royalties in the future. Merck is
responsible for worldwide development and commercialization of any resulting compounds and will pay Rigel royalties on future product sales,
if any. The collaboration is based on a number of new targets delivered by Merck. In addition, we may nominate our own targets for potential
inclusion in the collaboration.

In October 2005, we entered into a collaborative research and license agreement with Merck Serono granting them an exclusive license to
develop and commercialize product candidates from our Aurora kinase inhibitor program. Even though the agreement included a basket of
compounds within the Aurora kinase inhibitor program, the collaboration and our efforts under the agreement were focused on R763. We were
responsible for all costs associated with the preparation and filing of an IND for R763 while Merck Serono is responsible for all development of
R763 following regulatory acceptance of the IND and will bear all costs thereafter. In connection with this collaboration, Merck Serono paid us
$10.0 million upfront and purchased $15.0 million of our common stock at a premium. We amortized the upfront amount into revenue over the
nine months from the initiation of the collaboration in October 2005. This was the period of time that we estimated it would take to perform our
deliverables such as assisting Merck Serono with certain studies and activities leading up to the initiation of the first clinical trial to be run by
Merck Serono. As of June 2006, we had completely recognized the upfront amount into revenue as we had performed all our deliverables and
did not have any further obligations to Merck Serono leading up to the initiation of the first clinical trial.
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During February 2006, we received a milestone payment of $5.0 million triggered by the regulatory acceptance of the R763 IND in
January 2006. In September 2006, we received a $3.0 million milestone payment from Merck Serono in connection with the initiation of the
Phase 1 study of R763. We will be eligible to receive additional milestones, under certain conditions, upon commencement of a Phase 2 clinical
trial for R763, other clinical events, marketing approval and royalties on any future product sales.

3. SIGNIFICANT CONCENTRATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2006, Merck Serono, Pfizer and Merck accounted for 46%, 30% and 24% of total revenues, respectively. For
the year ended December 31, 2005, Merck, Pfizer, Merck Serono and Daiichi accounted for 45%, 26%, 14% and 15% of total revenues,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2004, Daiichi, Novartis and Merck accounted for 56%, 35% and 9% of total revenues,
respectively. At December 31, 2006, accounts receivable was comprised of two customers, and at December 31, 2005, accounts receivable was
comprised of one customer. Rigel does not require collateral or other securities for accounts receivable.

4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Checking account $ 332 $ 742
Money market funds 4,441 3,421
Federal agency securities 13,463 21,067
Corporate bonds and notes 86,235 112,966

$ 104,471 $ 138,196
Reported as:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 47,727 $ 76,779
Available-for sale-securities 56,744 61,417

$ 104,471 $ 138,196

Available-for-sale securities consist of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

2006 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Federal agency securities $ 9,497 $ � $ (8 ) $ 9,489
Corporate bonds and notes 47,232 21 � 47,253
Total $ 56,729 $ 21 $ (8 ) $ 56,742

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

2005 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Federal agency securities $ 17,090 $ 1 $ (17 ) $ 17,074
Corporate bonds and notes 44,419 1 (77 ) 44,343
Total $ 61,509 $ 2 $ (94 ) $ 61,417
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As of December 31, 2006, the contractual maturities of our available-for-sale securities were (in thousands):

Years to Maturity
After One
 year

Within One through Five
year Years

Federal agency securities $ 9,489 $ �
Corporate bonds and notes 47,253 �
Total $ 56,742 $ �

At December 31, 2006, the above available-for-sale securities had a weighted average maturity of approximately 100 days. There were no
realized gains or losses from sales of securities in the periods presented. We have the ability and intent to hold all investments as of
December 31, 2006 to maturity.

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair values of our investments in individual securities in available-for-sale securities
that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position deemed to be temporary for less than twelve months aggregated by investment category,
(in thousands):

Unrealized
Fair Value Losses

Federal agency securities $ 9,474 $ (8 )
Corporate bonds and notes � �
Total $ 9,474 $ (8 )

At December 31, 2006, we had no investment that has been in a continuous unrealized loss position for  more than twelve months. As of
December 31, 2006, 5 individual securities were in an unrealized loss position deemed to be temporary for less than twelve months. As of
December 31, 2005, 34 individual securities were in an unrealized loss position deemed to be temporary for less than twelve months.

Investment Grade Debt Securities.  Our investments in investment grade debt securities consist primarily of investments in
federal agency securities and corporate bonds and notes. The unrealized losses on our investments in investment grade
debt securities were caused by interest rate increases. Due to the fact that the decline in market value is attributable to
changes in interest rates and not credit quality, and because the severity and duration of the unrealized losses were not
significant, we considered these unrealized losses to be temporary at December 31, 2006.

56

Edgar Filing: AMERICAN CAMPUS COMMUNITIES INC - Form S-3

Table of Contents 92



Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005

Laboratory and office equipment $ 16,279 $ 15,064
Construction in progress 5 556
Total property and equipment 16,284 15,620
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,309 ) (12,163 )
Property and equipment, net $ 2,975 $ 3,457

During 2006, we disposed approximately $248,000 of assets with related accumulated depreciation of approximately $165,000. In 2005, we
wrote-off approximately $266,000 of assets at their original acquisition cost and related accumulated depreciation of $266,000 for assets that are
no longer in use.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, equipment under capital leases was approximately $3.7 million and $3.9 million, respectively. Total
depreciation expense, which included amortization from equipment under capital leases, was $1.4 million, $1.1 million, and $2.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

6. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

At December 31, 2006, future minimum lease payments and obligations under all noncancelable leases were as follows (in thousands):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases

2007 $ 1,454 $ 8,751
2008 892 13,945
2009 269 16,481
2010 3 14,561
2011 � 14,838
2012 and thereafter � 91,477
Total minimum payments required 2,618 $ 160,053
Less amount representing interest (267 )
Present value of future lease payments 2,351
Less current portion (1,269 )
Noncurrent obligations under capital leases $ 1,082

We moved into our current facilities in February 2003. In January 2005, we entered into an amendment with the landlord to decrease the
contractual rental commitments in 2005 by approximately $1.0 million. In July 2006, we amended our facility lease once again in order to defer
certain rent payments to originally occur in 2006 and 2007. The deferred payments are due to be paid to the landlord over the period starting
from 2009 to 2012, but we may prepay the deferred amount at any time without penalty. We reevaluated the lease amendment under FAS 13,
�Accounting for Leases� and determined that the amended lease still qualified as an operating lease. In conjunction with the lease amendment, a
warrant
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was issued to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at $10.57 per share. The warrant remains exercisable until July 2013 and is
exercisable at the option of the holder. See further discussion of the warrants in Note 7�Stockholder�s Equity.

During May 2004, we initiated a sublease of approximately 15,000 square feet of our premises to a tenant for a period of two years. The sublease
was amended in September 2005 to extend the term for an additional year. The operating minimum lease payments above are reflective of the
new sublease income stream of approximately $276,000 thru May 2007.

Rent expense net of sublease income under all operating leases amounted to approximately $14.4 million, $13.5 million and $14.0 million for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

In December 2002, we entered into an additional equipment lease line agreement for an aggregate total of $2.0 million. Only $1.4 million of this
line was utilized before the drawdown period expired. The lease period is for three years, and the interest on the lease is fixed at the time of any
draw down and equates to approximately 10%. This line has a buyout provision of the lesser of the fair-market value of the equipment or 10% of
the original utilized line amount. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining principal balance was approximately $7,000.

In June 2005, our equipment credit line under the August 2000 master agreement was extended to create an additional borrowing limit of $1.5
million, which was fully drawn down. In June 2006, we obtained approval to extend our equipment lease line to create a new total borrowing
limit of $1.5 million. We have the ability to draw down on this line through June 2007. The lease period will be for three years with the interest
rate on the lease fixed at drawdown and ranges approximately from 10.3% to 10.9%. At December 31, 2006, we utilized approximately
$415,000 of the 2006 extended line. Each line has a bargain purchase buyout provision of $101. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining
principal balance under the credit lines was approximately $2.3 million.

Obligations under all capital leases are secured by the assets financed under the leases.

7. STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Common Stock

In July 2005, we completed a public offering in which we sold 4,197,500 shares of common stock, including 547,500 shares issued upon
exercise of an option granted to the underwriters to cover over-allotments, at a price to the public of $20.75 per share. We received net proceeds
of approximately $81.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and related expenses.

Warrants

In conjunction with the facilities lease entered into in June 1998, we issued three warrants to the lessor to purchase an aggregate of 16,666 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $10.26 per share. During 2005, warrants to purchase 333 shares of common stock  were net exercised
and 155 shares of common stock were issued. As of December 31, 2006, warrants to purchase16,333 shares of common stock are
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outstanding and are exercisable at any time up to December 2007, the seventh anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering.

In conjunction with the facilities lease entered into in May 2001, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 16,666 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $80.21 per share, a 15% premium to market at the time of issuance. This warrant expired in May 2006. The fair
market value of this warrant, as determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $683,000. This amount has been
capitalized in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of the lease. As of December 31, 2006, approximately
$504,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.

In conjunction with the facilities lease amendment in October 2002, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 55,555 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $17.73 per share. The warrant is outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and exercisable at any time up to
October 2007. The fair value of this warrant, as determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $565,000. This amount
has been capitalized in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of the lease. As of December 31, 2006,
approximately $417,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.

In conjunction with the facilities lease amendment in July 2006, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 100,000 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $10.57 per share. The warrant is outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and exercisable at any time up to July 2013.
The fair value of this warrant, as determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $801,000. The amount has been
included in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of the lease. As of December 31, 2006, approximately
$767,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.

In conjunction with the equipment lease line executed in January 2002, we issued a warrant to the lender to purchase 2,645 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $37.80 per share. This warrant was outstanding as of December 31, 2006 but expired on January 31, 2007.
The fair market value of this warrant, as determined by the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $66,000. This amount was
capitalized in other long-term assets and was fully amortized to expense in 2005.

Stock option plans

In 2005, an amendment to the 2000 Plan was approved to primarily (i) increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under the 2000
Plan by 2,275,000 shares of common stock; (ii) prohibit the board of directors from repricing stock options without stockholder approval; and
(iii) eliminate the �evergreen� provision feature that provides for automatic annual increases in the total number of shares reserved for issuance. In
2006, an amendment to the 2000 Plan was approved to primarily increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 500,000 shares of
common stock from an aggregate total of 5,322,222 shares to 5,822,222 shares. Options granted under our 2000 Plan expire no later than ten
years from the date of grant. The option price of each incentive stock option shall be at least 100% of the fair value on the date of grant, and the
option price for each nonstatutory stock option shall be not less than 85% of the fair value on the date of grant, as determined by the board of
directors. Options may be granted with different vesting terms from time to time, not to exceed five years from the date of grant. As of
December 31, 2006, a total of 5,559,206 shares of common stock are authorized for issuance under the 2000 Plan.

In 2005, the Directors� Plan was amended to primarily: (i) increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the
Directors� Plan by 225,000 shares; (ii) increase the number of shares of common stock subject to the annual option grant to each non-employee
director by 8,333 shares
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to 10,000 shares; (iii) increase the number of shares of common stock subject to the initial option grant to each new non-employee director under
the plan by 13,333 to 20,000 shares; (iv) eliminate the board of directors� ability to reprice stock options; and (v) amend the vesting schedule for
future options grants, including annual option grants made the day following the Annual Meeting. The exercise price of options under the
Directors� Plan will be equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The maximum term of the options granted under
the Directors� Plan is ten years. All grants under the Directors� Plan will vest monthly over two years from date of grant. The Directors� Plan will
terminate in September 2009, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Directors� Plan. As of December 31, 2006, a total
of  322,211 shares of common stock are authorized for issuance under the Directors� Plan.

In June 2003, we initiated an offer to exchange options to purchase shares of our common stock with exercise prices equal to or greater than
$9.00 per share to officers, employees, consultants and non-employee members of our board of directors. We granted replacement options to
purchase an aggregate of 344,207 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $9.20 per share, the fair market value on the date of grant.
Any outstanding replacement options expired in August 2006. In August 2006, the board of directors granted new options to officers,
employees, consultants and non-employee members of our board of directors. We granted approximately 179,000 options, with an exercise price
of $9.56 per share. The options vested 50% at the date of grant and the remaining 50% will vest monthly over two years. We recorded
stock-based compensation expense of approximately $689,000 relating to these newly granted options for the year ended December 31, 2006.

In January 2006, we adopted FAS 123(R), SAB 107 and related pronouncements. See discussion in Note1�Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.
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Activity under all of the option plans through December 31, 2006 was as follows:

Shares Available Number of Weighted-Average
For Grant Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2004 894,179 2,081,219 $ 8.31
Authorized for grant 392,159 �
Granted (840,327 ) 840,327 $ 20.42
Exercised � (134,363 ) $ 7.93
Cancelled 37,038 (37,038 ) $ 15.11
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 483,049 2,750,145 $ 11.94
Authorized for grant 2,500,000 �
Granted (1,381,807 ) 1,381,807 $ 23.22
Exercised � (145,141 ) $ 8.07
Cancelled 93,592 (93,592 ) $ 16.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 1,694,834 3,893,219 $ 15.98
Authorized for grant 500,000 �
Granted (1,229,967 ) 1,229,967 $ 8.79
Exercised � (206,636 ) $ 7.96
Cancelled 511,339 (511,339 ) $ 14.72
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 1,476,206 4,405,211 $ 14.50
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 2,768,121 $ 13.39
Exercisable at December 31, 2005 1,786,133 $ 13.25
Exercisable at December 31, 2004 954,412 $ 10.72
Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2006 $ 6.24
Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2005 $ 12.42
Weighted average fair value of options granted during 2004 $ 11.12

Details of our stock options by exercise price is as follows:

Options Outstanding
Number of Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Options Exercisable
Outstanding Remaining Exercise Number of Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Options Contractual Life Price Options Exercise Price
$0.90-$8.15 925,290 7.73 $ 7.29 691,128 $ 7.09
$8.25-$9.93 1,211,525 7.18 8.55 934,261 8.42
$10.20-$14.75 340,716 9.26 11.09 75,686 12.96
$15.49-$22.54 642,854 7.74 19.09 486,863 19.52
$23.00-$24.56 1,268,446 8.32 23.81 568,571 23.61
$25.36-$37.80 12,491 7.61 25.91 7,723 26.26
$40.50-$73.53 3,889 3.79 49.94 3,889 49.94
$0.90 - $73.53 4,405,211 7.87 $ 14.50 2,768,121 $ 13.39
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2000 employee stock purchase plan

In August 2000, we adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or Purchase Plan, which was approved in September 2000 by our
stockholders. In April 2003, the Purchase Plan was amended to (i) increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Purchase Plan
by 66,667 shares of common stock, and (ii) change the evergreen feature of the plan. The amendment provides that the increase in the number of
shares reserved automatically pursuant to the evergreen feature will be equal to the least of 1% of the outstanding shares on the date of the
annual increase, 88,888 shares or such amount as may be determined by the board. The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase
common stock at a discount through payroll deductions during defined offering periods. The price at which the stock is purchased is equal to the
lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the first day of the offering or 85% of the fair market value of our common stock
on the purchase date. The initial offering period commenced on the effective date of our initial public offering. We issued 159,380, 73,868 and
93,529 shares of common stock during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, pursuant to the Purchase Plan at an average price of $7.21 per share,
$10.07 per share, and $8.76 per share in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, the weighted average fair value of stock
issued under the Purchase Plan was $4.95, $8.56 and $6.71, respectively. The Purchase Plan provides for annual increases in the number of
shares available for issuance under the Purchase Plan on each anniversary date of the effective date of the offering. The number of shares
reserved for future issuance under the Purchase Plan was increased by 88,888 per year during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Reserved shares

As of December 31, 2006, we had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

December 31,
2006

Warrants 174,533
Incentive stock plans 1,476,206
Purchase Plan 67,601
Total 1,718,340

8. INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 90,670 $ 81,184
Research and development credits 14,581 11,946
Capitalized research and development expenses 10,570 9,004
Other, net 11,039 7,599
Total deferred tax assets 126,860 109,733
Valuation allowance (126,860 ) (109,733 )
Net deferred tax assets $ � $ �
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No federal or state income tax expense or benefit was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, as we incurred net
operating losses during these periods. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased
by $17.1 million, $21.0 million and $24.1 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Included in the valuation allowance balance at December 31, 2006 is $2.8 million related to the exercise of stock options which are not reflected
as an expense for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, any future reduction in the valuation allowance relating to this amount will be
credited directly to equity and not reflected as an income tax benefit in the statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $254.0 million, which
expire beginning in the year 2011 and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $75.0 million, which expire beginning in the year
2013.

The Company also has federal research and development tax credits of $9.0 million, which begin to expire in the year 2012 and state research
and development tax credits of approximately $8.2 million, which have no expiration date. Upon further analysis of our research and
development tax credits, we revised the 2005 deferred tax asset relating to research and development from $10.2 million to $11.9 million.

Utilization of the net operating loss may be subject to annual limitations if there were ownership changes in the future. The limitations are
subject to Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions and such limitations could result in the expiration of the net operating loss before
utilization. In addition, we are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our financial statements.

9. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Year Ended December 31, 2005
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenue $ 9,897 $ 14,321 $ 6,127 $ 3,128 $ 2,618 $ 4,606 $ 3,282 $ 6,020
Net loss $ (8,469 ) $ (2,330 ) $ (11,382 ) $ (15,456 ) $ (11,164 ) $ (12,293 ) $ (12,906 ) $ (8,893 )
Net loss per common
share, basic and
diluted $ (0.34 ) $ (0.09 ) $ (0.46 ) $ (0.62 ) $ (0.57 ) $ (0.62 ) $ (0.56 ) $ (0.36 )
Weighted average
shares used in
computing net loss per
common share, basic
and diluted 24,816 24,842 24,987 25,093 19,713 19,887 23,235 24,524
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.

Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control�Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. Our management�s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in its attestation report, which is set forth in �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data� elsewhere in the annual report on
Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding our directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption �Directors
and Executive Officers� in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or prior to March 23, 2007.

In 2003, we adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions. Our code of ethics is on our website at http://www.rigel.com/pdf/codeofconduct.pdf with
�Investor Resources� materials. If we make any substantive amendments to the code or grant any waiver from a provision of the code applicable to
any executive officer or director, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on a Form 8-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption �Executive
Compensation� in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or
prior to March 23, 2007.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by reference to the information set forth
under the caption �Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management� and �Equity Compensation Plan Information� in our Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or around March 23, 2007.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
�Certain Transactions� in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on or prior to March 23, 2007.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption
�Ratification of Independent Auditors� in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on or prior to March 23, 2007.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)  The following documents are being filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:

1.  Financial Statements�Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K and selected
quarterly financial data for the last two years in Note 10

2.  Financial Statement Schedules�None�As all required disclosures have been made in the footnotes to the
financial statements.

3.  Exhibits:

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) dated June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889),
dated February 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1 Form of warrant to purchase shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.2 Warrant issued to TBCC Funding Trust II for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to
Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated
herein by reference).

4.3 Amended and Restated Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as
an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.4 Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889)
dated June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.6 Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.1+ Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2 Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., dated December 4, 1998 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.3 Collaborative Research and License Agreement between Rigel and Pfizer Inc., dated January 31, 1999 (filed as
an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.4 Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated May 26, 1999 (filed as an exhibit to
Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).
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10.5* License and Research Agreement between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc., dated September 2, 1999 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.6+ Employment Agreement between Rigel and Donald Payan, dated January 16, 1997 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7 Technology Transfer Agreement between Rigel and Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated September 22, 2000
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.8 Build-to-suit lease between Rigel and Slough BTC, LLC, dated May 16, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.9 First Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated May 18, 2001
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10* Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated July 6,
2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11* Second Amendment, dated July 1, 2001, to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc.
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.12 First Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement by and between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutical N.V., dated
June 30, 2000 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13 Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement by and between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutical N.V.,
dated December 4, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.14 Loan and Security Agreement between Rigel and Comerica Bank�California, dated July 12, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.15* Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Daiichi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., dated August 1, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.16* Amendment to Build-to-suit lease between Rigel and Slough BTC, LLC, dated October 18, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 Master Lease Agreement between Rigel and Lighthouse Capital Partners IV, L.P., dated December 23, 2002
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.18+ Employment Agreement between Rigel and Elliott B. Grossbard, dated as of March 18, 2002 (filed as an exhibit
to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.19+ Amendment to Employment Agreement, between Rigel and Donald Payan, dated as of March 5, 2003 (filed as
an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.20+ 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (No. 333-106532) filed on June 26, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.21* Collaborative Research and License Agreement by and between Rigel and Pfizer Inc., dated January 18, 2005
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.22+ 2000 Non-Employee Directors� Stock Option Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on
Form 8-K (No. 000-29889) filed on June 6, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.23* License and Research Agreement (Amended and Restated) between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc., dated
September 2, 1999, as amended and restated on March 26, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 (No. 000-29889), as amended, and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.24+ 2006 Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) filed on and incorporated herein by reference).

10.25+ 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 333-134622) filed on June 1, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.26+ 2006 Bonus Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.27+ Form of Indemnity Agreement (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.28+ 2007 Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) filed on February 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.29+ 2007 Cash Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889)
filed on February 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

23.1# Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
31.1# Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
31.2# Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
32.1• Certification required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the

United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

+  Management contract or compensatory plan.

*  Confidential treatment requested as to specific portions, which portions are omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#  Filed herewith.

•  The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed �filed� by the Company for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of South San Francisco, State of
California, on March 8, 2007.

Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
By: /s/ JAMES M. GOWER

James M. Gower
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer
By: /s/ RYAN D. MAYNARD

Ryan D. Maynard
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints James M. Gower
and Ryan D. Maynard, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution,
for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to
file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and
confirming that all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ JAMES M. GOWER Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive March 8, 2007

James M. Gower Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ RYAN D. MAYNARD Vice President and March 8, 2007
Ryan D. Maynard Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Finance and Accounting
Officer)

/s/ DONALD G. PAYAN Executive Vice President, Chief March 8, 2007
Donald G. Payan Scientific Officer and Director
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Signature Title Date
/s/ JEAN DELEAGE Director March 8, 2007

Jean Deleage
/s/ BRADFORD S. GOODWIN Director March 8, 2007

Bradford S. Goodwin
/s/ GARY A. LYONS Director March 8, 2007

Gary A. Lyons
/s/ WALTER H. MOOS Director March 8, 2007

Walter H. Moos
/s/ HOLLINGS C. RENTON Director March 8, 2007

Hollings C. Renton
/s/ PETER S. RINGROSE Director March 8, 2007

Peter S. Ringrose
/s/ STEPHEN A. SHERWIN Director March 8, 2007

Stephen A. Sherwin
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) dated June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889), dated
February 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1 Form of warrant to purchase shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.2 Warrant issued to TBCC Funding Trust II for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to
Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated
herein by reference).

4.3 Amended and Restated Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as
an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.4 Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889)
dated June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.6 Warrant issued to Kwacker Limited for the purchase of shares of common stock (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.1+ Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2 Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., dated December 4, 1998 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.3 Collaborative Research and License Agreement between Rigel and Pfizer Inc., dated January 31, 1999 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.4 Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated May 26, 1999 (filed as an exhibit to
Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5* License and Research Agreement between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc., dated September 2, 1999 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.6+ Employment Agreement between Rigel and Donald Payan, dated January 16, 1997 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7 Technology Transfer Agreement between Rigel and Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated September 22, 2000
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864), as amended, and incorporated
herein by reference).
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10.8 Build-to-suit lease between Rigel and Slough BTC, LLC, dated May 16, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.9 First Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated May 18, 2001
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (No. 000-29889)
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10* Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Novartis Pharma AG, dated July 6, 2001
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11* Second Amendment, dated July 1, 2001, to the Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc.
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.12 First Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement by and between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutical N.V., dated
June 30, 2000 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13 Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement by and between Rigel and Janssen Pharmaceutical N.V.,
dated December 4, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.14 Loan and Security Agreement between Rigel and Comerica Bank�California, dated July 12, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.15* Collaboration Agreement between Rigel and Daiichi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., dated August 1, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (No. 000-29889) and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.16* Amendment to Build-to-suit lease between Rigel and Slough BTC, LLC, dated October 18, 2002 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 Master Lease Agreement between Rigel and Lighthouse Capital Partners IV, L.P., dated December 23, 2002
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.18+ Employment Agreement between Rigel and Elliott B. Grossbard, dated as of March 18, 2002 (filed as an exhibit
to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.19+ Amendment to Employment Agreement, between Rigel and Donald Payan, dated as of March 5, 2003 (filed as an
exhibit to Rigel�s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 000-29889), as amended, for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.20+ 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (No. 333-106532) filed on June 26, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.21* Collaborative Research and License Agreement by and between Rigel and Pfizer Inc., dated January 18, 2005
(filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005
(No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.22+ 2000 Non-Employee Directors� Stock Option Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) filed on June 6, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.23* License and Research Agreement (Amended and Restated) between Rigel and Cell Genesys, Inc., dated
September 2, 1999, as amended and restated on March 26, 2001 (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 (No. 000-29889), as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.24+ 2006 Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) filed on and incorporated herein by reference).

10.25+ 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 333-134622) filed on June 1, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.26+ 2006 Bonus Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006 (No. 000-29889) and incorporated herein by reference).

10.27+ Form of Indemnity Agreement (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-45864),
as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.28+ 2007 Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K
(No. 000-29889) filed on February 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.29+ 2007 Cash Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as an exhibit to Rigel�s Current on Form 8-K (No. 000-29889) filed
on February 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

23.1# Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
31.1# Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
31.2# Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
32.1• Certification required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the

United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

+  Management contract or compensatory plan.

*  Confidential treatment requested as to specific portions, which portions are omitted and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#  Filed herewith.

•  The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed �filed� by the Company for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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